
TOWN OF PAONIA 

214 GRAND AVENUE 
REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING AGENDA 

TUESDAY, JULY 11, 2023 6:30 PM 

HTTPS://US02WEB.ZOOM.US/J/84315755155  

MEETING ID: 843 1575 5155  

ONE TAP MOBILE  

17193594580 

Public Participation: Must raise hand and be recognized by the Mayor, come to the podium and state your 

name and the street on which you live. Time limit is 3 minutes, one time per item. Direct all comments to the 

Mayor. No responses will be made by staff or Board during the meeting. No derogatory or demeaning 

statements or public displays. Please be respectful. 

Roll Call 

Correspondence Received 

Approval of Agenda 

Announcements 

Public Comment 
Any topic not included on the agenda, 3-minute time limit. 

Consent Agenda 
    Minutes 

June 27, 2023 Regular Meeting Minutes 

Disbursements 

Liquor License Renewal 

Paonia Liquors 

Special Event Permit 

North Fork Valley Creative Coalition for Pickin' at the Park 

Staff Reports 
Interim Town Administrator 

Final Report 

Police Chief 

Progress Report 

Blotter 

Public Works Director 

June Report 

Actions & Presentations 

Other Items 
Public comments must be related to the agenda item, 3-minute time limit. 

1. Swearing in of Town Administrator Stefen Wynn - Deputy Town Clerk Amanda Mojarro

2. Designation of handicapped parking at Town Park - Trustee Knutson & Trustee Stelter

1

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84315755155


3. Discussion and decisions on parking at the top of Pan American and Vista Drive - Trustee Stelter &

Trustee Knutson

4. Consider a mid-block Pedestrian crosswalk on Grand Avenue - Trustee Knutson & Trustee Stelter

5. Ratifying Health Insurance Employer Contributions
6. Consideration and approval of Resolution 10- 2023 Roles and Responsibilities of Committee's

7. Consideration and Approval of Resolution 08-2023: Appointment of Officer- Town Administrator and

Treasurer

8. Consideration and Approval of Resolution 09-2023 Authorized Signatories on Accounts

9. Consideration and approval of Resolution 2023-11 Remote Meetings and Participation

10. Opportunity to attend Colorado Growing Water Smart Workshop in October

11. Approval of award of bid to K&D Construction (low bidder)for replacement of Dorris Avenue

sewer line and authorize Town Administrator to negotiate final contract.

12. Consideration and approval of granting Accountant/Deputy Clerk Amanda Mojarro view only

electronic access to Town bank accounts.

13. Consideration and approval to write an EIAF grant to DOLA for $1,000,000 to help fund the
relining of the 2-million-gallon tank

14. Consideration and Approval to write a grant of up to $6500 to the Colorado State Internet Portal

Authority for expert help on the audio-visual system in Town Hall

15. Consideration and Approval of River District Grant Agreement

Executive Sessions 
1. EXECUTIVE SESSION, pursuant to C.R.S. Section 24-6-402(4)(b), for the purpose of conferencing

with the Town Attorney to receive legal advice on specific legal questions pertaining to the potential

encroachment of a fence in Town-owed right-of-way adjacent to property located on First Street.

2. EXECUTIVE SESSION, pursuant to C.R.S. Sections 24-6-402(4)(a) and (4)(e)(I), for the purposes of

considering the purchase, acquisition, lease, transfer, or sale of any real, personal, or other property

interest, and determining positions, developing strategy and instructing negotiators relative to matters

that may be subject to negotiation; specifically pertaining to a proposed amendment to the existing tower

lease with SBA Communications concerning Town-owned property located on Cemetery Circle Drive.

Mayor & Trustee Reports 

Adjournment 

2



AS ADOPTED BY: 

TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO 

RESOLUTION NO. 2017-10 – Amended May 22, 2018 

I. RULES OF PROCEDURE

Section 1.  Schedule of Meetings.  Regular Board of Trustees meetings shall be held on the second and fourth Tuesdays of each 

month, except on legal holidays, or as re-scheduled or amended and posted on the agenda prior to the scheduled meeting. 

Section 2.  Officiating Officer.  The meetings of the Board of Trustees shall be conducted by the Mayor or, in the Mayor’s 

absence, the Mayor Pro-Tem.  The Town Clerk or a designee of the Board shall record the minutes of the meetings. 

Section 3.  Time of Meetings.  Regular meetings of the Board of Trustees shall begin at 6:30 p.m. or as scheduled and posted on 

the agenda. Board Members shall be called to order by the Mayor.  The meetings shall open with the presiding officer leading 

the Board in the Pledge of Allegiance.  The Town Clerk shall then proceed to call the roll, note the absences and announce 

whether a quorum is present.  Regular Meetings are scheduled for three hours, and shall be adjourned at 9:30 p.m., unless a 

majority of the Board votes in the affirmative to extend the meeting, by a specific amount of time.  

Section 4. Schedule of Business.  If a quorum is present, the Board of Trustees shall proceed with the business before it, which 

shall be conducted in the following manner.  Note that all provided times are estimated:  

(a) Roll Call - (5 minutes)

(b) Approval of Agenda - (5 minutes)

(c) Announcements (5 minutes)

(d) Recognition of Visitors and Guests (10 minutes)

(e) Consent Agenda including Approval of Prior Meeting Minutes (10 minutes)

(f) Mayor’s Report (10 minutes)

(g) Staff Reports: (15 minutes)

(1) Town Administrator’s Report

(2) Public Works Reports

(3) Police Report

(4) Treasurer Report

(h) Unfinished Business (45 minutes)

(i) New Business (45 minutes)

(j) Disbursements (15 minutes)

(k) Committee Reports (15 minutes)

(l) Adjournment

* This schedule of business is subject to change and amendment.

Section 5. Priority and Order of Business. Questions relative to the priority of business and order shall be decided by the Mayor 

without debate, subject in all cases to an appeal to the Board of Trustees.  

Section 6.  Conduct of Board Members.   Town Board Members shall treat other Board Members and the public in a civil and 

polite manner and shall comply with the Standards of Conduct for Elected Officials of the Town.  Board Members shall address 

Town Staff and the Mayor by his/her title, other Board Members by the title of Trustee or the appropriate honorific (i.e.: Mr., 

Mrs. or Ms.), and members of the public by the appropriate honorific.  Subject to the Mayor’s discretion, Board Members shall 

be limited to speaking two times when debating an item on the agenda.  Making a motion, asking a question or making a 

suggestion are not counted as speaking in a debate.  

Section 7. Presentations to the Board.  Items on the agenda presented by individuals, businesses or other organizations shall be 

given up to 5 minutes to make a presentation.  On certain issues, presenters may be given more time, as determined by the 

Mayor and Town Staff.  After the presentation, Trustees shall be given the opportunity to ask questions. 

Section 8. Public Comment.  After discussion of an agenda item by the Board of Trustees has concluded, the Mayor shall open 

the floor for comment from members of the public, who shall be allowed the opportunity to comment or ask questions on the 

agenda item.  Each member of the public wishing to address the Town Board shall be recognized by the presiding officer before 

speaking.  Members of the public shall speak from the podium, stating their name, the address of their residence and any group 

they are representing prior to making comment or asking a question.  Comments shall be directed to the Mayor or presiding 

officer, not to an individual Trustee or Town employee.  Comments or questions should be confined to the agenda item or issue(s) 

under discussion.  The speaker should offer factual information and refrain from obscene language and personal attacks. 

3



Section 9.  Unacceptable Behavior. Disruptive behavior shall result in expulsion from the meeting. 

Section 10.  Posting of Rules of Procedure for Paonia Board of Trustees Meetings. These rules of procedure shall be provided in 

the Town Hall meeting room for each Board of Trustees meeting so that all attendees know how the meeting will be conducted. 

II. CONSENT AGENDA

Section 1. Use of Consent Agenda. The Mayor, working with Town Staff, shall place items on the Consent Agenda. By using a 

Consent Agenda, the Board has consented to the consideration of certain items as a group under one motion. Should a Consent 

Agenda be used at a meeting, an appropriate amount of discussion time will be allowed to review any item upon request.  

Section 2. General Guidelines. Items for consent are those which usually do not require discussion or explanation prior to action 

by the Board, are non-controversial and/or similar in content, or are those items which have already been discussed or explained 

and do not require further discussion or explanation. Such agenda items may include ministerial tasks such as, but not limited 

to, approval of previous meeting minutes, approval of staff reports, addressing routine correspondence, approval of liquor 

licenses renewals and approval or extension of other Town licenses. Minor changes in the minutes such as non-material Scribner 

errors may be made without removing the minutes from the Consent Agenda.  Should any Trustee feel there is a material error 

in the minutes, they should request the minutes be removed from the Consent Agenda for Board discussion. 

Section 3. Removal of Item from Consent Agenda. One or more items may be removed from the Consent Agenda by a timely 

request of any Trustee. A request is timely if made prior to the vote on the Consent Agenda. The request does not require a 

second or a vote by the Board. An item removed from the Consent Agenda will then be discussed and acted on separately either 

immediately following the consideration of the Consent Agenda or placed later on the agenda, at the discretion of the Board.  

III. EXECUTIVE SESSION

Section 1.  An executive session may only be called at a regular or special Board meeting where official action may be taken by 

the Board, not at a work session of the Board.  To convene an executive session, the Board shall announce to the public in the 

open meeting the topic to be discussed in the executive session, including specific citation to the statute authorizing the Board 

to meet in an executive session and identifying the particular matter to be discussed “in as much detail as possible without 

compromising the purpose for which the executive session is authorized.” In the event the Board plans to discuss more than 

one of the authorized topics in the executive session, each should be announced, cited and described. Following the 

announcement of the intent to convene an executive session, a motion must then be made and seconded.  In order to go into 

executive session, there must be the affirmative vote of two thirds (2/3) of Members of the Board. 

Section 2.  During executive session, minutes or notes of the deliberations should not be taken. Since meeting minutes are subject 

to inspection under the Colorado Open Records Act, the keeping of minutes would defeat the private nature of executive 

session. In addition, the deliberations carried out during executive session should not be discussed outside of that session or 

with individuals not participating in the session.  The contexts of an executive session are to remain confidential unless a 

majority of the Trustees vote to disclose the contents of the executive session. 

Section 3.  Once the deliberations have taken place in executive session, the Board should reconvene in regular session to take 

any formal action decided upon during the executive session.  If you have questions regarding the wording of the motion or 

whether any other information should be disclosed on the record, it is essential for you to consult with the Town Attorney on 

these matters. 

IV. SUBJECT TO AMENDMENT

Section 1. Deviations.  The Board may deviate from the procedures set forth in this Resolution, if, in its sole discretion, such 

deviation is necessary under the circumstances. 

Section 2.  Amendment.   The Board may amend these Rules of Procedures Policy from time to time. 

4



Correspondence Received 

5



6



7



8



9



Town Board Staff Report  

Subject: FYI Town Hall Flag 

Author: Samira Vetter 

Representing: Town Clerk 

Date: July 11, 2023 

Last year, we mounted flagpoles on the brick arches at the front of Town Hall. Regrettably, 
the poles and brackets attaching them to the building have been unable to withstand the 
wind. After attempting several fixes, the flags were removed for safety and liability issues 
last fall. 

As you may (or may not) know, the Town staff maintains and uses the flagpole in Poulos 
Park since we do not have one next to Town Hall.  

10



Minutes 

11



JUNE 27, 2023 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 1 

Minutes 

Regular Town Board Meeting 

Town of Paonia, Colorado 

June 27, 2023 

RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 

Trustee/Mayor Pro-Tem Markle calls the meeting to order at 6:30 pm 

Roll Call 
PRESENT 

Mayor Mary Bachran (Zoom) 

Trustee/Mayor Pro-Tem Thomas Markle (Chairing Meeting) 

Trustee Paige Smith 

Trustee John Valentine (Zoom) 

Trustee Morgan MacInnis 

Trustee Knutson joins (9:23 pm) 

ABSENT 

Trustee Rick Stelter 

Approval of Agenda 
Motion made by Trustee Smith, Seconded by Trustee MacInnis, to approve the agenda with item 

‘6. Proposed Water Code Changes’ moved to be the first discussion item. 

Motion carries unanimously. 

Announcements 
Jeremiah Garcia has passed his D Water Treatment Examination. 

Public Comment 
Any topic not included on the agenda, 3-minute time limit. 

W. Brunner- Questions people attending on Zoom, doesn't think it is legal. Has a request for next

meeting about financial questions about funds being created without resolutions or ordinances.

Also would like to know how the budget stands or are we on a new one, has budget been

submitted to DOLA? Would also like to know how former Finance Director Jones severance was

calculated with a breakdown, how much money was expended on employee dependents over and

above what was owed by the Town and a list of the agencies and other entities that were

consulted or hired to help figure out the finance situation and what they were paid.

S. Watson: Also dislikes the zoom meetings vs in person, Res 2021-07 says that the Town of

Paonia has resumed in person meetings. If we are going to keep zooming meetings, we need a

Resolution to do so.

12



JUNE 27, 2023 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 2 

P. VanWinkle: Think people zooming in from home should come in.

Administrator Klusmire clarifies that herself, Mayor Bachran and Trustee Valentine are all at the 

Colorado Municipal League Conference which is why they are attending by Zoom. 

Consent Agenda 
Trustee/ Mayor Pro-Tem Markle states that disbursements will be done separately since they 

were late-breaking and not in the packet. 

Trustee Smith makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee MacInnis, that they approve the Consent 

Agenda. 

Motion passes unanimously. 

Staff Reports 
Administrator Klusmire provides a verbal report about the Proposed water code changes that will 

eventually be put into Ordinance. She also requests that those who have not completed a 

committee scope please do so and send it to the Town Clerk as soon as possible since they would 

like to have it on the next agenda. 

Disbursements 
Trustee Smith makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee MacInnis, to approve disbursements. 

Motion carries unanimously. 

Actions & Presentations 
6. Discussion of proposed changes to code pertaining to water companies

Town Attorney Cotton-Baez opens himself up to any questions that the included memo 

do not answer. 

Discussion ensues about the importance of better definitions in the code, differences 

between out-of-town water users and out-of-town water companies and the necessity of 

having official agreements. 

Administrator Klusmire provides some background to the necessity of redoing the water 

code and the lack of agreements with most water companies that lead to issues with 

maintenance and operations with some smaller companies, which will cause issues with 

the Towns service and equipment. 

Public Comment: 

C. Kendall, Minnesota Creek Road: Speaking for several people including her own

comments.

13



JUNE 27, 2023 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 3 

Reads text from President of Minnesota Domestic Pipeline: Feels the behavior from 

several council members is a disgrace and their refusal to work together as a team is 

causing the out-of-town users to be used as a piggy bank. Favors formation of a water 

commission for all users with full voting rights so they can seat a functional council that 

will look for solutions. 

C. Kendall: We work with quite a few water companies for maintenance issues and has

issues with some of the proposals. Understands that the aim is to make things better for

the Town and do things right but has problems that water customers and not water

companies can be leak credited once a year. We were made to be water companies in

many cases and should be treated fairly. It isn't right to treat us any differently than in

town users.

J. Polus: sits on Board for Stewart Mesa Water Company, we would like to request a seat

at the table during these negotiations or development of new ordinances. There is a lot to

be said and we would like to have a forum to say it.

M. Difranco: representing 3 different water companies. Would also like to see a water

commission so that all can share talents and knowledge and keep consistent flow even

through new councilmembers. Having a seat at the table for decisions about their water

use where their input is taken would be much fairer and could benefit the Town.

C. Patterson: Sad to see the water committee disbanded because the discussion needs to

start and the sharing of ideas needs to happen.

M. Moll: Lamborn Mesa Water Company- Makes sense that there would be formal

agreements but doesn't know what it would look like.

C. Whitside: Board member of Lamborn Mesa Water Company, how many water

companies and who do you have agreements with.

S. Watson: Addressing in town, out of town and water companies- houses out of town

receiving Town Water, according to ordinance must get building permits through the

town. Wants to remind out of town water users that they are not allowed to add kitchens

and living unit while the water moratorium is in place. Who is surveilling this?

Administrator Klusmire asks that anyone who has legal documents that show this, please 

send them to the Town. 

Trustee Smith says she has seen a provision in the code about this and will find it and 

send it to the Town offices. 

S. Schmitzer: does billing for Chapin Water Association, how can we learn more about

the items in the executive summary. Does this discussion end tonight or is this the

beginning? There needs to be a collaboration between the Town and the water

companies.

14



JUNE 27, 2023 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 4 

Trustee/Mayor Pro-Tem Markle explains that this is the beginning of the discussion to 

change an ordinance and that it is a deliberate process not a fast one. 

Town Attorney Cotton-Baez points out that not all the changes have to do with water 

companies and that the two issues might need to be split. Some of these suggested 

changes come from Public Works and do not apply to water companies. 

W. Brunner: There is a hole in the code now that we do not charge for additional use or

dwelling units on water taps like we do on sewer taps and that is something that should

be rectified. Water companies should get together and have a voice and it is something

that has been needed for a long time. Points out that there is an initiative process in the

law that could be used to provoke changes and offers his services. Many water companies

gave water to the Town in return for water treatment and that should not be overlooked in

the decision-making process.

(Name unhearable): Was nervous that the water companies would be lumped in with the 

in town situation and was happy to hear the Town Attorney and Trustee MacInnis point 

out that there are many nuances to the whole conversation and it isn't just water 

companies. Wonders where higher fees for higher water usage comes in and plans to 

continue paying attention. Would like to have a better understanding of the Town's 

responsibility and the water companies. 

B. Morris: Whistling Acres Water Company: Explains the situation with their water

company and a handshake agreement that no one remembers and how it means their

water company is maintaining town taps without the fees associated with it.

(Name unhearable): Foothill Water No 2: we would like to have a voice so we can be 

treated fairly. 

J. Link: Western Extension Water Company: Been a part of this since the beginning and

have never seen an agreement, but I would like to. We have always had a good

relationship with the Town and would like that to continue.

Board Discussion ensues including the importance of distinguishing between  in- town 

and out-of-town user and water companies, difficulties for smaller water companies, 

importance of input and discussion from all sides. 

1. Consideration and approval of EDFOODYO LLC request to modify liquor license

premises to include sidewalk dining area.

Town Attorney Cotton-Baez gives background on the prior meeting discussions and 

potential conditions discussed. All that is required is the approval of a Modification of 

Premises from the Board. 

Trustee MacInnis makes a motion to approve the request with modifications as discussed. 

15



JUNE 27, 2023 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 5 

Motion fails for lack of a second. 

Trustee Smith asks the Town Attorney about the need of a barricade. 

Town Attorney Cotton-Baez explains that it is not clearly defined in the regulation and 

the Board has some discretion about what they can require. 

Trustee Smith explains that in driving by the location, she is concerned that without some 

type of demarcation there is not going to be room for someone with a wheelchair and is 

worried about a bottleneck being created in a public right of way. 

Trustee Smith makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee MacInnis, that we consider 

approving this application once the Board has decided what modifications may need to be 

added. 

Ms. Cusack expresses frustration that this is their third meeting when this could have 

been taken care of with their initial license in November. She feels that their diagram 

from the last meeting and the rope barrier proposed will mark the area well enough, along 

with the signage, however they are open to whatever the Board feels is appropriate.  

Mr. Vaughn adds that their season is ticking away, and they are losing both time and 

revenue and don't want to have to keep coming back. 

Trustee Smith points out that it is important that they know what that barricade is going 

to look like because since it is a public sidewalk right of way and aesthetics are the 

Boards responsibility. While as a citizen she loves the food and everything they do, as a 

Trustee they have a responsibility to the community to make sure Public Spaces are 

utilized properly. 

Trustee MacInnis thinks that the roping off the area would be sufficient and that safety 

concerns are already covered under liquor license regulations. However, it might be 

helpful to have the area the rope goes, marked on the sidewalk so it is consistant. 

Mayor Bachran feels that rope barrier is sufficient for safety and demarcation and that 

more is overregulating the situation. 

Ms. Cusack and Mr. Vaughn point out that they renew their liquor license in December 

so if there are issues, this can always be revisited then. 

Public Comment: 

S. Watson: Would have been nice to see the sidewalk permit and a scaled diagram on

graph paper. Would like to see the actual scaled diagram. There is a lot of legal work that

has gone into this so doesn't think fees should be waived, also feels that the tables are too

large and the area isn't appropriate.

16



JUNE 27, 2023 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 6 

W. Brunner: Thinks it is a big mistake to approve a change to the liquor license without a

quorum.

Trustee MacInnis makes a motion to Amend the Main motion, Seconded by Trustee 

Valentine, to approve the modification of premises guided by the diagram provided by 

the owners in the last packet (June 13th). 

Board discussion ensues about: marking the sidewalk, keeping hydrant clear, more than 

adequate sidewalk space and modifications. 

Public Comment: 

S. Patterson: It doesn't have to be on a sidewalk, other restaurants have leased spaces that

provide them with patios or gardens for things like this. Are people with furniture on the

sidewalk going to be paying more taxes? There will be more of these, think of that. There

should be more than 36 inches minimum on the sidewalk.

K. Schwartz: Fully support Nido moving forward with this plan, they bring life to the

community, they have met the conditions of the liquor license and have done everything

asked. Let's support our businesses!

S. Watson: The code says that C-1 sidewalks must be 10 feet wide and doesn't think they

were originally designed that width for businesses to use. Give it a try and see what

happens. What are the legal ramifications for after hours and non-business public

liability.

Administrator Klusmire adds that from a downtown development professional 

perspective that people like to see vitality and if there is a certain amount of 'messiness' it 

makes people more aware of their surroundings and safer. 

Amendment to main motion 

Voting Aye: Trustee/ Mayor Pro-Tem Markle, Trustee MacInnis, Trustee Valentine 

Voting Nay: Trustee Smith 

The motion to amend carries. 

Main Motion: to approve the application based on the drawing in the last (June 13, 2023) 

packet. 

Voting Aye: Trustee/ Mayor Pro-Tem Markle, Trustee MacInnis, Trustee Valentine 

Voting Nay: Trustee Smith 

The motion carries. 

17



JUNE 27, 2023 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 7 

2. Consideration and approval of Western Slope Conservation Centers request for a Town

gravel donation for the River Park - Kathy Schwartz

Interim Executive Director of the Western Slope Conservation Center, Kathy Schwartz 

provides a presentation about the River Park's history and value to the community. 

She also shows that the River Park has to replace about 600 ft of trail that was damaged 

by the flooding and all the repairs will cost approximately $62,000.00, which includes 

materials, equipment and labor, that they are actively fundraising for. 

The parking lot was not damaged but in the scope of all the other work needing to be 

done and its importance to the community they are asking for a truckload, or 30 tons, of 

gravel to redo the parking lot which is in bad shape with many potholes causing potential 

safety issues. Her hope is that if the Paonia Board approves the gravel donation, then 

Mayor Bachran and herself can approach the County to help with grading. 

Trustee Smith asks the Town Attorney since the MOU is so outdated, whether it is in the 

Towns best interest to do a new one and take on more responsibility for the parking lot. 

The Town Attorney advises that if the Town is going to be taking on additional 

obligations, it is always good to have an agreement in place. 

Administrator Klusmire provides background and explains that they were originally 

approached to do the work. Staff members cannot override an active agreement 

regardless of the situation. She cautions that the Town has multiple agreements with other 

groups and if you grant a request of monetary value to one group other groups will expect 

the same thing and the staff doesn't have time to loan out equipment and do extra work.  

They have been overrun this year with projects and the Town also has flood damage to 

deal with as well. As Town administrator, even though it is an unpopular statement, it is 

her job to remind the Board of the big picture and how the Town operates and that we 

must treat all groups we have agreements with similarly. 

Trustee Smith makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee MacInnis, to deny the request for 

Town donation of gravel for the River Park and revise the MOU. 

Trustee MacInnis states that while he understands that while the Memorandum of 

Understanding says that the second party is responsible for maintenance, it doesn't say 

the Town cannot choose to help with maintenance. He feels that maybe the Western 

Slope Conservation Center is having to use allocated money for upkeep and maintenance 

for repairs and that in recognition of the value to the community, he is willing to lend a 

helping hand as they restore the trails. 

Trustee Smith explains that if not for the MOU she would be all over it but she takes 

Administrator Klusmire's advice seriously and doesn't want to put the Town in a position 

18



JUNE 27, 2023 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 8 

where they set a precedent that will back them into a corner. Revising the MOU won't 

happen right away but would address her concerns. She loves the River Park and wants to 

help but as Trustees they have to look at the bigger picture. 

Trustee Valentine says that the Administrator and Town Attorney's comments weigh 

heavily but feels that asking for a donation is completely different, it isn't a commitment 

to ongoing work. He feels that the Board should rise to the occasion on this and if 

different groups make requests, so be it. 

Mayor Bachran agrees that the River Park is an asset to the community and it wouldn't be 

the first time that the Town had helped with equipment or materials because it is such a 

treasure. Her biggest reservation is financial and without financial statements in front of 

her to show her the bottom line she isn't comfortable with jumping right in. If they could 

hold off two weeks until they have the financials, she would feel better about it. 

Public Comment: 

S. Watson: What does our insurance say about loaning Town equipment to people?

Trustee Smith states that she has looked at the parking lot and there is time to fix it since 

it wasn't damaged by flooding. She suggests that they work on a new MOU and then 

revisit the donation request. 

Main motion: to deny the request for Town donation of gravel for the River Park and 

revise the MOU. 

Voting Aye: Trustee/ Mayor Pro-Tem Markle, Trustee Smith, Trustee MacInnis 

Voting Nay: Trustee Valentine 

The motion carries. 

3. Consider a mid-block Pedestrian crosswalk on Grand Avenue

Trustee MacInnis makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee Smith, to table this item until 

they have a presenter. 

Motion carries unanimously. 

4. Designation of handicapped parking at Town Park

Trustees ask a few questions about process and cost. 

Trustee Smith makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee MacInnis, to return to this 

discussion with more information from staff at the July 11 meeting. 

19



 

  

JUNE 27, 2023 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 9 

 

 

Motion carries unanimously. 

 

5. Consideration of a mobility route on 3rd Avenue (Street) 

 

Trustee Macinnis explains that he actually walked the route and wants to suggest that 

they detour from Third at Oak St and the go down the south side of Fourth is a better 

option for a mobility route. It would require less upkeep and repair and allow access to 

more locations (Town Park, NFSIS and Downtown) without too many detours. 

 

Trustee MacInnis makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee Smith, that the potential route be 

changed from Third St to Third St, Oak St and down the south side of Fourth St. 

 

Trustee Smith would rather table it until Trustees Stelter and Knutson are available for 

the discussion. 

 

Trustee MacInnis rescinds his motion. 

 

Trustee Smith makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee MacInnis, that this matter be 

brought back at the July 25th meeting. 

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

 

6. Consideration and approval of new 'Commercial Sidewalk Permit Application 

 

Town Attorney Cotten-Baez explains the changes he suggested for the permit, protecting 

the town and requiring insurance and language specific to those with liquor licensing. 

 

Trustee Smith would like the code, that pertains to the permit, included in the application 

and that it be clarified that you need a permit for every item on the sidewalk. She also 

feels we need to look at the policy, ordinance and enforcement. 

 

Trustee Smith makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee MacInnis, to go ahead with the use 

of public sidewalks for business purposes permit; including a reference to Section 11- 1 - 

30 and ensure that businesses are being issued a permit for every item on the sidewalk. 

 

Public Comment: 

 

S. Watson: Thinks name should be changed to the title of the ordinance. have to be 

renewed in June, change item listing, remove 'other'. 

 

W. Brunner: Clerk shouldn't be doing this, refer back to Code always. 

 

Trustee Smith makes a motion to amend the main motion, Seconded by Trustee MacInnis 

and add "and that the permit reflect the content of Section 11-1-30' 

20



JUNE 27, 2023 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 10 

Main motion:  to go ahead with the use of public sidewalks for business purposes permit; 

including a reference to Section 11- 1 - 30 and that the permit reflect the content of 11-1-

30 and ensure that businesses are being issued a permit for every item on the sidewalk. 

Motion carries unanimously. 

7. Consideration and approval of SGM Scope of Work and Contract for 5th and Grand

Engineered Plans to CDOT standards.

Mayor Bachran explains this is one of the steps needed for the Grant process.  

Administrator Klusmire also explains that the design is done but the drawings are not to 

CDOT standards which is required for the project. 

Trustee Smith makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee MacInnis, to approve the SGM 

scope of work and contract for 5th and Grand engineered plans to CDOT standards. 

Trustee Smith asks about geotechnical surveys and storm drain engineering being 

potential extra expenses. 

Trustee/Mayor Pro-Tem Markle asks about the funding source and Mayor Bachran 

answers that it will be marijuana tax money since it is a capital project. 

The motion carries unanimously. 

8. Consideration and Approval of Staff Recommendation for Town Contribution to

Employee Health benefits

Administrator Klusmire provides background and rates to the new health plan and her 

recommendations for Town contributions. 

Board discussion ensues about the previous meetings vote on July 13th, bundle rates vs 

age rates.  

Trustee Smith makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee MacInnis, that we offer employees 

$650 toward their premium and any employee, spouse plus we would pay $800 total. 

Discussion ensues about current budget concerns, last years budget, the difficulty of 

figuring dependent's percentage with the new plan, the need for the numbers, time 

sensitive, different plans, whatever is decided needs to be revisited very soon, too 

generous. 

Trustee Knutson joins (9:09 pm) 

Trustee Knutson makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee Smith, to take a five- minute 

recess while we make calculations. 

21



JUNE 27, 2023 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 11 

The motion carries unanimously. 

Recess begins: 9:14 pm 

Recess ends: 9:19 pm 

Trustee Smith rescinds her motion. 

Trustee Smith makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee MacInnis, that we extend the 

meeting to 10:30 pm 

Motion carries unanimously 

Trustee Smith makes a motion, to proceed with what is in front of us and will revisit the 

premium at the first meeting in October. 

Motion dies for lack of second. 

Trustee Knutson makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee Smith, that he and Administrator 

Klusmire figure out premium costs for this which honor the vote done at the last meeting 

and that the Board authorize them finding calculations together. 

Administrator Klusmire encourages the Board to remember that employee retention is a 

goal here and another Town has already made a better offer to one of our employees. 

Public Comment: 

C. Patterson: The right employees are worth everything.

Board Discussion continues about honoring former votes, fiscal responsibility, budget 

process, stability for employees. 

Main Motion:  

Voting Aye: Trustee/Mayor Pro-Tem Markle, Trustee Valentine and Trustee Knutson 

Voting Nay: Trustee Smith and Trustee MacInnis 

The motion carries. 

9. Consideration and approval of purchase of Laptop for New Town Administrator.

22



JUNE 27, 2023 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 12 

Trustee Smith makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee Knutson, to buy a new laptop and 

not spend more than $3000.00. 

Public Comment: 

S. Patterson: What goes on with all the devices from all the employee turnovers and why

are we still using Phonz.

Voting Aye: Trustee Smith, Trustee Valentine, Trustee Knutson, Trustee MacInnis 

Voting Nay: Trustee/ Mayor Pro-Tem Markle 

The motion carries. 

10. Consideration and approval of CIRSA Property Casual Renewal

Trustee Knutson makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee Smith, to continue this to the next 

agenda. 

The motion carries unanimously. 

11. Consideration and approval of CIRSA Workmans Comp Ins 2024

Trustee Knutson makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee Smith, to continue this to the next 

meeting. 

Voting Aye: Trustee/ Mayor Pro-Tem Markle, Trustee Knutson, Trustee Valentine, 

Trustee MacInnis 

Voting Nay: Trustee Smith 

The motion carries. 

12. Consideration and approval of MOU between Paonia Police Department and Delta

County Human Services and Law Enforcement

Trustee Smith makes motion, seconded by Trustee Knutson, to approve the MOU 

between Delta County Human Services and law enforcement. 

The motion carries unanimously. 

Executive Sessions 

Trustee Smith makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee Knutson, to go into Executive 

Session, pursuant to Section 24-6-402(4)(e)(I), C.R.S., for determining positions relative 

23



JUNE 27, 2023 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 13 

to matters that may be subject to negotiations, developing strategy for negotiations, and 

instructing negotiators, relative to a contract with a finalist candidate for the position of 

Town Administrator. 

AND 

Executive Session, pursuant to C.R.S. Section 24-6-402(4)(f)(I), for the purposes of 

discussing a personnel matter concerning employees who have not requested that the 

matter be discussed in an open meeting, specifically pertaining to compensation and 

potential promotions. 

The motion carries unanimously. 

Executive session begins: 10:07 pm 

Board comes out at 10:17 pm 

Trustee Knutson makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee Smith, to extend the meeting to 

11 pm. 

The motion carries unanimously. 

The Board returns to Executive Session at 10:18 pm 

Executive Session ends:  10: 41 pm 

The participants in the Executive session were Mayor Bachran, Trustee/ Mayor Pro-Tem 

Markle, Trustee Valentine, Trustee Smith, Trustee Knutson, Trustee MacInnis, Interim 

Administrator Klusmire and Town Attorney Cotten-Baez. 

No concerns were noted for the record. 

Trustee Knutson makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee Smith, that they accept the 

contract as presented in the executive session and authorize the Mayor to sign it, for the 

Town Administrator.  

The motion carries unanimously. 

Trustee Knutson makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee MacInnis, to authorize the 

Interim Town Administrator to increase staff compensation as suggested in the executive 

session. 

The motion carries unanimously 

Adjournment 

24



JUNE 27, 2023 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 14 

The meeting adjourns at 10:52 pm 

_______________________________ ______________________________ 

Samira M Vetter, Town Clerk Mary Bachran, Mayor  

25



Disbursements 

26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



Paonia Liquor  

Liquor License Renewal 

43



Town Board Staff Report  

Subject: Paonia Liquors; Liquor License Renewal 

Author: Samira Vetter 

Representing: Town Clerk 

Date: July 11, 2023 

Staff Recommendation:  Approve Liquor License Renewal 

 All required paperwork has been turned into the Town Clerk

 All local fees have been paid and the State fees are in the possession of the Town
Clerk

 The Police Department has no concerns or issues with this License Renewal

 The Public Works Department has no concerns or issues with this License Renewal

 The Clerks office has no issues or concerns with this renewal.

44



45



46



47



Pickin’ at the Park 

Special Event Permit 

48



Town Board Staff Report  

Subject: Pickin’ at the Park Special Event Permit 

Author: Samira Vetter 

Representing: Town Clerk 

Date: July 11, 2023 

Staff Recommendation: Approve Special Event Permit for Pickin’ at the Park 

 All required paperwork and fees have been received from Pickin’ Productions and
the North Fork Valley Creative Coalition.

 Notification Poster was hung in a timely manner.

 Certificate of Insurance is on file.

 Public Works has no issues or concerns with the event.

 Police Department has no issues or concerns with the event.

 The Clerk’s Office has no issues or concerns with the event.

49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE
OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?

INSR ADDL SUBR
LTR INSD WVD

PRODUCER CONTACT
NAME:

FAXPHONE
(A/C, No):(A/C, No, Ext):

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

INSURER A :

INSURED INSURER B :

INSURER C :

INSURER D :

INSURER E :

INSURER F :

POLICY NUMBER POLICY EFF POLICY EXPTYPE OF INSURANCE LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY) (MM/DD/YYYY)

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

UMBRELLA LIAB

EXCESS LIAB

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

EACH OCCURRENCE $

DAMAGE TO RENTEDCLAIMS-MADE OCCUR $PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

MED EXP (Any one person) $

PERSONAL & ADV INJURY $

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: GENERAL AGGREGATE $

PRO-
POLICY LOC PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGGJECT 

OTHER: $

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT
$(Ea accident)

ANY AUTO BODILY INJURY (Per person) $
OWNED SCHEDULED

BODILY INJURY (Per accident) $AUTOS ONLY AUTOS

HIRED NON-OWNED PROPERTY DAMAGE
$AUTOS ONLY AUTOS ONLY (Per accident)

$

OCCUR EACH OCCURRENCE

CLAIMS-MADE AGGREGATE $

DED RETENTION $

PER OTH-
STATUTE ER

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE $
If yes, describe under

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMITDESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC #

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

Y / N
N / A

(Mandatory in NH)

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE    EXPIRATION    DATE    THEREOF,    NOTICE   WILL   BE   DELIVERED   IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

THIS  IS  TO  CERTIFY  THAT  THE  POLICIES  OF  INSURANCE  LISTED  BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.    NOTWITHSTANDING  ANY  REQUIREMENT,  TERM  OR  CONDITION  OF  ANY  CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE  MAY  BE  ISSUED  OR  MAY  PERTAIN,  THE  INSURANCE  AFFORDED  BY  THE  POLICIES  DESCRIBED  HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

THIS  CERTIFICATE  IS  ISSUED  AS  A  MATTER  OF  INFORMATION  ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE  DOES  NOT  AFFIRMATIVELY  OR  NEGATIVELY  AMEND,  EXTEND  OR  ALTER  THE  COVERAGE  AFFORDED  BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.    THIS  CERTIFICATE  OF  INSURANCE  DOES  NOT  CONSTITUTE  A  CONTRACT  BETWEEN  THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT:    If  the  certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If  SUBROGATION  IS  WAIVED,  subject  to  the  terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: REVISION NUMBER:

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION

© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.ACORD 25 (2016/03)

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

$

$

$

$

$

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

5/23/2023

(970) 765-7156 (970) 249-2225

22543

North Fork Valley Creative Coalition Inc.
PO Box 143
Paonia, CO 81428

A 1,000,000

CP3240175 12/4/2022 12/4/2023 100,000
Excluded
1,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000

LIQUOR LIABILIT 1,000,000

A Directors & Officers CP3240175 12/4/2022 D&O Liability 1,000,000

Civic Club

Town of Paonia
PO Box 460
Paonia, CO  81428

NORTFOR-05 TIFFANYS

Mountain West In & Fin Serv LLC
100 E Victory Way
Craig, CO 81625

Tiffany Sulzen

tiffanys@mtnwst.com

Secura Insurance Company

12/4/2023

X
X

X

61



 

 

Interim Town Administrator 

62



  

1 
 

To: The Honorable Mayor Mary Bachran and Board of Trustees  

From: Leslie Klusmire, Interim Town Administrator  

RE: Administrator’s Report  

Date:  July 11, 2023  

  

Town Administrator Search: Congratulations to new Town Administrator Stephen Wynn and 

the Town Board for a very successful recruitment process. Four excellent candidates emerged 

from the process, and you found a great fit! 

 

This means farewell as your interim administrator from me. I have so appreciated your 

support and hard work during my almost eight months here. You’ve made great strides, and I 

know Stefen will be an excellent resource as you move forward.  

 

I will particularly miss working with your excellent and very dedicated staff. What a treasure 

the Town has in all the folks that make it happen. 

 

Thank you so much for allowing me to serve the Town, and I look forward to updates on all the 

future wonderful things the Town does to prepare for its future. 

 

Report on the Town’s financial management and data: Professional Management Systems 

has completed the financial statement for the audit.  

 

We anticipate you will have your first accurate and readable financial statement at the first 

meeting in June.  

 

Lorraine Trotter will be at this meeting for the health insurance discussion, and you can ask 

her questions about the overall finances of the Town. I understand how hard it is to make 

financial decisions without feeling like you know exactly what your budget to actuals are. PMS 

and I think they are very good and that you are in good shape. Your reserves may be growing 

at least in the General Fund due to underspending the budget in 2021 and 2022.  

 

Dorris Sewer Line Replacement:  K&D Construction was the low bidder, and their references 

were glowing. On the agenda is an item to accept the bid and instruct staff to begin 

negotiating a final contract for approval at your next meeting. All systems are go for 

completion this year. 

 

Hydrogeology Study and Spring Metering: Complete funding is expected soon. We can 

proceed with some work with partial funding. The Board will need to approve a contract for 

the project and the grant contracts. 

63



  

2 
 

Planning Grant for Code, Resolutions, and Ordinance Revisions: We have submitted an 

administrative grant request for 50% of the cost of revising the code and bringing the 

approved ordinances and resolutions up to date. The proposal includes the cost of the Town 

Attorney and me to complete the work. I would do the initial draft, and the Town Attorney 

would review it. It includes two community workshops to review options and a final draft. 

 

Personnel Policy Revisions:  New town administrator Stefen Wynn has a personnel handbook 

template he wants to work with to bring the Town’s handbook up to snuff. I have let him 

know the Attorney and CIRSA will need to review it before adoption. 

 

Water Company ordinance revisions: The Town Attorney, Town Administrator, and Public 

Works staff will be working together on a plan to form this badly needed ordinance.  They 

plan to include water companies in the discussion. However, this is an ordinance to protect 

the Town water system, so reaching a consensus will be challenging. The process will be a 

good educational vehicle for both sides to understand the Town’s needs to protect the water 

system. 

 

Also, I would highly encourage you to change your out-of-town water rates to 150% of what 

the Town residents pay in next year’s budget. I polled the other managers and the typical 

water rate for out-of-town properties is 150% of the in-town rates. This is because, at a lower 

rate for out-of-town customers, the Town residents are subsidizing out-of-town residents’ 

costs for producing and delivering clean water. Town residents pay additional taxes to the 

Town that County residents don’t pay. For instance, the Town does not collect out-of-town 

property taxes – they all go to the County, and their mill levy is smaller because of that. 

Hence, they pay a larger share of Town provided utilities. It evens out. 

 

 

 

 

 

64



 

 

Police Chief 

65



 

 

Paonia Police 
Department 

DEPARTMENT BRIEFING:  SUMMARY OF PROGRESS 07/03/2023  

 
 
 

 
Officer Gilliam has been promoted to 

Corporal. This promotion will include 

added administrative responsibilities 

and supervisory capacity regarding the 

training program and on-call situations. 

 

  

 

 
 

The department has begun 

collecting speed data throughout 

town. This data will be used to 

assist in the establishment of new 

speed limits in town.   

 
Members of the department attended 

Taser training and certified with the 

newer Taser 7 device. All members of 

the department will now be 

transitioning to the Taser 7. 

 

 
 

The department worked with a 

local business to develop an active 

shooter training for employees. 

The training involved scenarios 

and was created by the department 

with input from the business.  

 

 
We had several calls for service at 

the Town Park through the month 

for criminal mischief, noise 

complaints, and curfew violations. 

Thank you to Public Works for 

assisting with those calls and 

fixing/cleaning up the area.  

Increased patrol in the park and 

surrounding areas is helping to 

reduce the calls for service and will 

continue throughout the summer. 

 

 
 

 

 

66



rplwlitr.x1

Paonia Police Department
Law Incident Table, by Date and Time

Date Occurred:   06/01/23
Agency Loctn Dsp
PPD PPD

Time Nature Address
16:35:24 CRIM MISCHIEF GRAND AVE; a, Paonia, CO
19:30:21 RESTR/PROT ORDR 2ND ST, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 2

Date Occurred:   06/02/23
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
14:10:43 CIVIL PROBLEM

Address
2ND ST, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 1

Date Occurred:   06/03/23
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
00:42:25 AGENCY ASSIST PPD DIST3

10:04:34 Disturbance

Address
MINNESOTA CREEK RD & DRY GULCH RD, 
Paonia, CO
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD UTL

Total Incidents for this Date: 2

Date Occurred:   06/04/23
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
15:39:05 911/hangup PPD PPD
16:57:35 911/hangup

Address
ONARGA AVE, Paonia, CO 
MAIN AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 2

Date Occurred:   06/05/23
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
15:48:53 Information

Address
 GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 1

Date Occurred:   06/06/23
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
10:30:15 VIN INSPECTION PPD PPD
14:44:35 Information

Address
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO 
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 2

67



Law Incident Table, by Date and Time Page 2 of 4

rplwlitr.x1

Date Occurred:   06/08/23
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
17:22:31 Traffic Stop PPD PPD VW
20:44:05 AGENCY ASSIST PPD DIST3
23:13:31 SUSPICIOUS

Address
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO
GERMAN CREEK LN, Paonia, CO 
4TH ST, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 3

Date Occurred:   06/09/23
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
12:09:27 Juvenile Prob

Address
OAK AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 1

Date Occurred:   06/10/23
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
01:00:12 SUSPICIOUS PPD PPD
22:00:18 Noise Complaint

Address
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO 
ALDER CT, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 2

Date Occurred:   06/11/23
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
19:46:20 DOMESTIC PPD PPD   A
22:18:34 ALARM

Address
ALDER DR, Paonia, CO 
HIGHWAY 133, Paonia, CO PPD DIST3

Total Incidents for this Date: 2

Date Occurred:   06/12/23
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
09:41:05 Disturbance

Address
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 1

Date Occurred:   06/13/23
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
11:18:51 AGENCY ASSIST

Address
CRAWFORD RD, Paonia, CO PPD DIST3

15:39:44 DEATH INVESTGTN POPLAR AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD
Total Incidents for this Date: 2

Date Occurred:   06/16/23
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
10:57:05 Code Enforce PPD PPD
11:11:51 Code Enforce PPD PPD
11:18:06 Code Enforce

Address
MAIN AVE, Paonia, CO
MAIN AVE, Paonia, CO
BOX ELDER AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

12:30:10 DEATH INVESTGTN ALDER DR, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

WW
WW
WW

68



Law Incident Table, by Date and Time Page 3 of 4

rplwlitr.x1

Time Nature Address Agency Loctn Dsp
Total Incidents for this Date: 4

Date Occurred:   06/19/23
Time Nature Address Agency Loctn Dsp
15:23:10 SHOPLIFTING 2ND ST, Paonia, CO  PPD PPD
Total Incidents for this Date: 1

Date Occurred:   06/20/23
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
08:35:51 Code Enforce PPD PPD WW 
09:04:18 Code Enforce PPD PPD WW
09:55:16 Wanted Person PPD PPD    A

12:03:34 Resisting PPD PPD    A

13:41:56 Code Enforce PPD PPD
13:54:32 Code Enforce PPD PPD
14:34:20 Code Enforce

Address
NIAGARA AVE, Paonia, CO
1ST ST, Paonia, CO
STAHL RD & SAMUEL WADE RD, 
Paonia, CO
STAHL RD & SAMUEL WADE RD, 
Paonia, CO
ORCHARD AVE, Paonia, CO
NORTH FORK AVE, Paonia, CO 
3RD ST, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 7

Date Occurred:   06/21/23
Time Nature Address Agency Loctn Dsp
09:02:19 Information PPD PPD
12:36:06 VIN INSPECTION

GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO 
MEADOWBROOK BLVD; PPD PPD

13:07:03 Traffic Stop
 Paonia, CO
5TH ST & BOX ELDER AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD  CIT

Total Incidents for this Date: 3

Date Occurred:   06/22/23
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
08:39:16 Code Enforce

Address
PPD PPD WW

09:27:16 ANIMAL CONTROL PPD PPD
15:06:16 Traffic Stop PPD PPD  CIT
18:25:27 Information

BOX ELDER AVE, Paonia, CO 
CLARK AVE, Paonia, CO 
RIO GRANDE AVE, Paonia, CO 
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 4

Date Occurred:   06/23/23
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
15:30:01 CRIM MISCHIEF

Address
4TH ST, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 1

WW
WW
WW

69



Law Incident Table, by Date and Time Page 4 of 4

Report Includes:
All dates between `00:00:01 06/01/23` and `00:00:01 06/30/23`, All agencies matching `PPD`, All disposition's, All natures,
All location codes, All cities

rplwlitr.x1

Date Occurred:   06/24/23
Time Nature Address Agency Loctn Dsp
00:15:15 ANIMAL CONTROL MAIN AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD
07:14:17 VIN INSPECTION MEADOWBROOK CT, Paonia, CO PPD PPD
Total Incidents for this Date: 2

Date Occurred:   06/26/23
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
11:28:25 THEFT

Address
MEADOWBROOK BLVD, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

19:09:47 ANIMAL CONTROL MAIN AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD
Total Incidents for this Date: 2

Date Occurred:   06/27/23
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
07:24:37 AGENCY ASSIST

Address
4190 LN, Paonia, CO PPD DIST3

Total Incidents for this Date: 1

Date Occurred:   06/28/23
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
15:31:06 CITIZEN ASSIST PPD PPD
22:18:22 TrafficAccident

Address
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO
5TH ST & GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 2

Date Occurred:   06/29/23
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
00:25:40 Disturbance PPD PPD
15:20:53 DOMESTIC PPD PPD   A
19:55:28 Traffic Stop

Address
OAK AVE, Paonia, CO
PAN AMERICAN AVE, Paonia, CO 
2ND ST & GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD  CIT 

Total Incidents for this Date: 3

Total reported: 51

A-3, CIT-3, UTL-1, VW-1, WW-6

ARREST=A
CIT=CITATION
UTL=UNABLE TO LOCATE
VW= VERBAL WARNING
WW-WRITTEN WARNING

70



 

 

Public Works Director 

71



 

 

Public Works Staff Report 

Subject:  Projects List 

Author:  Cory Heiniger 

Representing:   

Date: 07/07/2023 

 

First off, we would like to thank Cross Roads Baptist Church, they traveled here from Marshal Texas 
and contributed over 220 man hours of volunteer work.  It was a pleasure to work with them and they 
did an excellent job helping get the parks in good shape before the major events.  They helped with 
the trail in Apple Valley Park, spread woodchips throughout the playgrounds in both parks, painted 
some of the areas that had graffiti or just needed redone, and helped trim back our easement to the 
sewer lagoon. 

 

Completed Projects List 

 

 Apple Valley Park trail / water leak. 

 Alley work and trimming. 

 Potholes. 

 Stage repairs completed. 

 Phase 1 of Cedar Hill fire mitigation. 

 Parks irrigation work. 

 Replaced broken electrical outlets at town park. 

 Miner statue damage.  We removed the granite top of the wall as one was loose and was 
either knocked off or fell off and we decided for safety concerns we should remove them all 
before someone got hurt. 

 Pump replacement at the 2-million-gallon plant. 

 Prep for park events.  
 

72



 

Handicapped Parking 

73



 

 

Town Board Staff Report  

Subject: Estimated Costs of Handicapped parking 

Author: Cory Heiniger 

Representing: Public Works Director 

Date: July 11, 2023 

 
Stencil:  ADA 36x30” $150 (reusable) 
Paint:  $185 (Blue and White) 
Signs:  $40 each. 
Posts:  $60 each. 
 
With unknown variables it’s hard to give an exact estimate.  We might still end up needing 
curbs, core drilling etc. but that’s a start. A lot will depend on the area chosen and placement. 

 
 

74



Public Safety and Parks Committee Meetings 

Suggestions for Board action in Bold 

5/16/23 

 

Law Enforcement 

Rick Stelter (Trustee Town of Paonia), Dave Knutson (Trustee Town of Paonia), and Chief Matt 

Laiminger 

 

The Department is continues to closely monitor stream flows and is working with Public Works to 

prepare for possible flooding from this year’s snowpack. Chief Laiminger will work with Public Works 

Director Heininger to place a sign at the River Park warning boaters about constraints on river rescue 

resources.  

 

A citizen complaint about speed at the intersection of Rio Grande and Third was considered. The PPD 

will increase enforcement of the 25 mph speed limit, consider use of the electric speed monitor trailer, 

and weigh options for traffic calming. In addition a follow-up to issues with gravel on the K-8 sidewalk 

will be brought to school officials. 

 

PPD is planning to purchase a drop box for excess pharmaceuticals which would allow citizens to 

anonymously drop excess prescription medications off. 

 

Per comments at the last Town Council meeting regarding handicapped mobility in town, the Board is 

asked to consider the following: 

1. Designating a route for mobility access to downtown such as the north side of 3rd street 

2. Designate handicapped parking at Town Park 

3. Consider a mid-block pedestrian zone on Grand Avenue from Town Hall to Poulos Park 

 

Officers have been present and doing positive community relations at the Arbol Farm Market. 

 

There is a strong uptick of visitors and tourists which requires more load enforcement resources 

evidenced by the Hestival at Big B’s. 

 

Trustee Stelter recommended investigation of a “cadet” program to notify residents of code violations in 

Town and to enforce parking regulations on Grand Avenue. 

 

Our Chief cited issues with contracts covering training reimbursements if an officer leaves prior to 

contract expiration. He plans to bring a proposal for best practices to the Board Meeting in June. 

 

Parks Committee 

Present: Rick Stelter (Trustee Town of Paonia), Dave Knutson (Trustee Town of Paonia),Tracy McCurdy 

(Citizen and Mountain Bike representative), Marissa Mommaerts (Phoenix Rising - Paonia General Plan 

Consultant), Karen Tarnow (Western Slope Conservation Center) 

 

Tracy McCurdy summarized the recent agreement regarding biking access to Vista Drive out of Apple 

Valley Park. Lyn Howe and Geoff Rauch (landowners) agreed to allow access through their property and 

attached a request for the Board to refer their questions to the Town Attorney regarding right-of-

way or easement designation. Tracy was able to work with local residents on crafting a solution that was 

supported by all involved parties in Creek Vista HOA and neighbors.  

 

The Board is asked to approve use of Apple Valley Park for Jumbo trailhead parking and to 

consider the following: 

75



1. Fencing and trail preparation for the new easement through the Howe/Rauch property 

2. A crosswalk and traffic signs for the Apple Valley Park entrance 

3. Directional sign to Apple Valley on 3rd street 

4. Make decisions to resolve parking issues at the top of Pan American and on Vista Drive 

 

Trustee Stelter suggests that resident parking only be allowed by the Board.  

 

Delta County Administrator Robbie LaValley consulted with District Ranger, Levi Broyles to allow 

weekend overflow parking for Jumbo at the USFS parking lot near Apple Valley. 

  

Karen noted the planned river festival scheduled for June 3 may be moved to Pleasure Park depending on 

flooding at Paonia River Park.  She requested that Paonia Tree Board consider designation of hazard trees 

along both River Trails. The Nature Connection arranged for a certified crew of sawyers to take down 

these trees this summer. 

 

Discussion then continued about issues in the Parking Lot at the River Park. Trustee Knutson agreed to 

contact the Mayor and Chairman Koontz about working on the lot.  

 

The Pool, Park, and Recreation District is concerned about possible flooding of the Apple Valley pickle 

ball and tennis courts and requests that the Town consider mitigation with sandbags or a berm. Mayor 

Bachran has forwarded this request to the Town Administrator for staff action and response. 

76



 

Mid-block Pedestrian Crosswalk 

 

77



78



 

Ratification of Employee Health Insurance 

Decision 

79



  

1 
 

To: The Honorable Mayor Mary Bachran and Board of Trustees  

From: Leslie Klusmire, Interim Town Administrator  

RE: Ratifying of Health Insurance Benefit Plan  

Date:  July 11, 2023  

  

Recommendation:  
 
I am recommending my proposal. The Town can afford it, and it is nearer to what the employees have 
been paying. Several employees can’t afford to insure their families under the Board directed 
alternative. In my opinion, offering affordable health insurance to employee families is reassurance to 
an employee and increases employee retention.  
 
The Town Attorney will address the liabilities of changes to what employees have been paying. 
 
Overall Financial Impact: 
 
Lorraine Trotter, President of Professional Management Services, will be on Zoom to explain why she 
believes the Town has adequate reserves plus additional uncommitted funds and answer Board 
questions about the Town’s financial system clean-up progress. 
 
I have found some budgeting calculations that indicate the Town may be underspending this year even 
with increased legal and administrator expenses and unbudgeted employee promotions and raises. It 
appears to me that more employees were budgeted than the Town actually has.  
 
  

80



  

2 
 

Summary Comparison: 
 

 
O

ld
 P

la
n 

To
w

n 
ex

pe
ns

e 
as

 T
ow

n 
pa

id
 

O
ld

 P
la

n 
ex

pe
ns

es
 a

s 
Em

pl
oy

ee
 p

ai
d 

O
ld

 P
la

n 
as

 
Bu

dg
et

ed
 T

ow
n 

 

O
ld

 P
la

n 
as

 
Bu

dg
et

ed
 

Em
pl

oy
ee

  

Bo
ar

d 
di

re
ct

io
n 

To
w

n 
Sh

ar
e 

Bo
ar

d 
di

re
ct

io
n 

Em
pl

oy
ee

  

TA
 R

ec
om

m
en

d 
 

To
w

n 
Sh

ar
e 

TA
 R

ec
om

m
en

d 
Em

pl
oy

ee
  

Health 
Only 

        

Total   $228,061  $228,061  $182,076  $182,076 
Average 
Premium 

19 $12,003 19 $12,003 15 $12,138 15 $12,138 

T/Em 
Share 

$10,803 $1,200 $8642 $3,261 $9,397 $2,741 $10,800 $1,338 

H/V/D/L 
(all) 

        

Total   $243,576  $243,576  $190,745  $190,745 
Average 
Premium 

19 $12,820 19 $12,820 15 $11,220 15 $11,220 

T/Em 
Share 

$11,537  $1,282 $9,168 $3,651 $8,317 $2,904 $9,802 $1,418 

 
 
Attached is a detailed spreadsheet for further information. 
 
Please note that since we will not have our Caselle structure fixed until the beginning of August and I 
couldn’t always get good totals from the budget, this is my best effort, and actual numbers may vary 
slightly. Doing further research would have involved a significant amount of hours, and there wasn’t a 
cost/benefit to doing that. This is accurate on a conceptual level. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

81



Pa
ge

 1
 o

f 4
7/

7/
20

23

O
ld

 P
la

n-
To

w
n 

fr
om

 2
02

3 
bu

dg
et

 - 
in

cr
ea

se
d 

8%
 

ov
er

 2
02

2

O
ld

 P
la

n-
Em

pl
oy

ee
 fr

om
 

20
23

 b
ud

ge
t  

- 
in

cr
ea

se
d 

8%
 

ov
er

 2
02

2
Kn

ut
so

n 
N

ew
 

Pl
an

 - 
To

w
n

Kn
ut

so
n 

N
ew

 
Pl

an
 - 

Em
pl

oy
ee

TA
 

Re
co

m
m

en
da

ti
on

 - 
To

w
n

TA
 

Re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
n 

- E
m

pl
oy

ee

N
um

be
r o

f 
em

pl
oy

ee
s

Cu
rr

en
t 

fis
ca

l y
ea

r 
en

ro
llm

en
t

Cu
rr

en
t 

fis
ca

l y
ea

r 
en

ro
llm

en
t

PP
O

7
Em

pl
oy

ee
ag

e 
ba

se
d

ag
e 

ba
se

d
10

$7
0,

20
0.

00
$7

,8
00

.0
0

10
$7

8,
00

0.
00

$0
.0

0
Em

pl
oy

ee
 p

lu
s S

po
us

e
ag

e 
ba

se
d

ag
e 

ba
se

d
3

$3
3,

21
0.

00
$1

4,
49

0.
00

3
$3

9,
60

0.
00

$8
,1

00
.0

0
Em

pl
oy

ee
 p

lu
s C

hi
ld

ag
e 

ba
se

d
ag

e 
ba

se
d

1
$1

0,
47

0.
00

$4
,2

30
.0

0
1

$1
3,

20
0.

00
$1

,5
00

.0
0

Em
pl

oy
ee

 p
lu

s F
am

ily
ag

e 
ba

se
d

ag
e 

ba
se

d
1

$1
2,

67
8.

00
$6

,4
38

.0
0

1
$1

5,
60

0.
00

$3
,5

16
.0

0

TO
TA

L

22
 

be
ne

fit
ed

 
em

pl
oy

ee
s 

w
/s

om
e 

du
pl

ic
at

es
. 

Ap
pe

ar
s 

ba
se

d 
on

 
19

 
em

pl
oy

ee
s

$1
64

,2
03

.6
8

$6
3,

85
6.

98
15

$1
26

,5
58

.0
0

$3
2,

95
8.

00
15

$1
46

,4
00

.0
0

$1
3,

11
6.

00

TO
TA

L 
 P

re
m

iu
m

19
$2

28
,0

60
.6

6
$1

59
,5

16
.0

0
$1

59
,5

16
.0

0
An

nu
al

 a
ve

ra
ge

 p
er

 e
m

pl
oy

ee
19

$1
2,

23
9.

28
$1

0,
63

4.
40

$1
0,

63
4.

40
O

LD
 P

LA
N

 L
AS

T 
YE

AR
 

La
st

 y
ea

r o
ld

 p
la

n 
an

nu
al

 p
re

m
iu

m
14

$1
58

,6
57

.3
7

la
st

 y
ea

r a
nn

ua
l p

re
m

iu
m

 p
er

 
em

pl
oy

ee
$1

1,
33

2.
67

La
st

 y
ea

r T
ow

n 
&

 E
m

pl
oy

ee
 

pa
ym

en
t

$1
13

,5
22

.9
3

$4
5,

13
4.

44
72

%
28

%
PP

O
6

N
O

N
E

TO
W

N
 O

F 
PA

O
N

IA
 2

02
3-

20
24

 H
ea

lth
 In

su
ra

nc
e 

Be
ne

fit
 F

in
an

ci
al

 C
om

pa
ris

on
 

82



Pa
ge

 2
 o

f 4
7/

7/
20

23

O
ld

 P
la

n-
To

w
n 

fr
om

 2
02

3 
bu

dg
et

 - 
in

cr
ea

se
d 

8%
 

ov
er

 2
02

2

O
ld

 P
la

n-
Em

pl
oy

ee
 fr

om
 

20
23

 b
ud

ge
t  

- 
in

cr
ea

se
d 

8%
 

ov
er

 2
02

2
Kn

ut
so

n 
N

ew
 

Pl
an

 - 
To

w
n

Kn
ut

so
n 

N
ew

 
Pl

an
 - 

Em
pl

oy
ee

TA
 

Re
co

m
m

en
da

ti
on

 - 
To

w
n

TA
 

Re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
n 

- E
m

pl
oy

ee

N
um

be
r o

f 
em

pl
oy

ee
s

Cu
rr

en
t 

fis
ca

l y
ea

r 
en

ro
llm

en
t

Cu
rr

en
t 

fis
ca

l y
ea

r 
en

ro
llm

en
t

TO
W

N
 O

F 
PA

O
N

IA
 2

02
3-

20
24

 H
ea

lth
 In

su
ra

nc
e 

Be
ne

fit
 F

in
an

ci
al

 C
om

pa
ris

on
 

PP
O

5
Em

pl
oy

ee
0

$0
.0

0
$0

.0
0

$0
.0

0
$0

.0
0

Em
pl

oy
ee

 p
lu

s S
po

us
e

0
$0

.0
0

$0
.0

0
$0

.0
0

$0
.0

0
Em

pl
oy

ee
 p

lu
s C

hi
ld

0
$0

.0
0

$0
.0

0
$0

.0
0

$0
.0

0
Em

pl
oy

ee
 p

lu
s F

am
ily

1
$1

4,
40

0.
00

$8
,1

60
.0

0
$1

5,
60

0.
00

$6
,9

60
.0

0
TO

TA
L

5
$1

4,
40

0.
00

$8
,1

60
.0

0
5

$1
5,

60
0.

00
$6

,9
60

.0
0

TO
TA

L 
 P

re
m

iu
m

$2
2,

56
0.

00
$2

2,
56

0.
00

An
nu

al
 a

ve
ra

ge
 p

re
m

iu
m

 p
er

 e
m

pl
oy

ee
$4

,5
12

.0
0

$4
,5

12
.0

0
O

ld
 P

la
n 

As
 

to
w

n 
w

as
 

pa
yi

ng

O
ld

 P
la

n 
As

 
bu

dg
et

ed
 fo

r 
20

23
TO

TA
L 

PR
EM

IU
M

19
$2

28
,0

60
.6

6
$2

28
,0

60
.6

6
15

$1
82

,0
76

.0
0

15
$1

82
,0

76
.0

0

20
23

-2
02

4 
TO

TA
L 

AV
ER

AG
E 

HE
AL

TH
 P

RE
M

IU
M

 P
ER

 E
M

PL
O

YE
E

$1
2,

00
3.

19
$1

2,
00

3.
19

$1
2,

13
8.

40
$1

2,
13

8.
40

TO
TA

L 
AN

N
U

AL
 A

VE
RA

GE
 H

EA
LT

H 
CO

ST
 T

O
 T

HE
 T

O
W

N
 P

er
 

EM
PL

O
YE

E
$1

0,
80

2.
87

$8
,6

42
.3

0
$9

,3
97

.2
0

$1
0,

80
0.

00
TO

TA
L 

AN
N

U
AL

 A
VE

RA
GE

 H
EA

LT
H 

CO
ST

 T
O

 T
HE

 E
M

PL
O

YE
E 

pe
r 

EM
PL

O
YE

E

It 
ap

pe
ar

s t
ha

t 
th

e 
90

%
 h

ea
lth

 
co

ve
ra

ge
 fo

r a
ll 

w
as

 n
ot

 
bu

dg
et

ed
$1

,2
00

.3
2

$3
,3

60
.8

9
$2

,7
41

.2
0

$1
,3

38
.4

0

83



Pa
ge

 3
 o

f 4
7/

7/
20

23

O
ld

 P
la

n-
To

w
n 

fr
om

 2
02

3 
bu

dg
et

 - 
in

cr
ea

se
d 

8%
 

ov
er

 2
02

2

O
ld

 P
la

n-
Em

pl
oy

ee
 fr

om
 

20
23

 b
ud

ge
t  

- 
in

cr
ea

se
d 

8%
 

ov
er

 2
02

2
Kn

ut
so

n 
N

ew
 

Pl
an

 - 
To

w
n

Kn
ut

so
n 

N
ew

 
Pl

an
 - 

Em
pl

oy
ee

TA
 

Re
co

m
m

en
da

ti
on

 - 
To

w
n

TA
 

Re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
n 

- E
m

pl
oy

ee

N
um

be
r o

f 
em

pl
oy

ee
s

Cu
rr

en
t 

fis
ca

l y
ea

r 
en

ro
llm

en
t

Cu
rr

en
t 

fis
ca

l y
ea

r 
en

ro
llm

en
t

TO
W

N
 O

F 
PA

O
N

IA
 2

02
3-

20
24

 H
ea

lth
 In

su
ra

nc
e 

Be
ne

fit
 F

in
an

ci
al

 C
om

pa
ris

on
 

Vi
si

on
 - 

Pl
an

 B
 (l

ow
es

t c
os

t)
Em

pl
oy

ee
5

$0
.0

0
$7

84
.8

0
8

$0
.0

0
$8

64
.0

0
8

$8
64

.0
0

$0
.0

0
Em

pl
oy

ee
 p

lu
s S

po
us

e
2

$0
.0

0
$4

82
.1

6
2

$0
.0

0
$2

88
.0

0
2

$0
.0

0
$2

88
.0

0
Em

pl
oy

ee
 p

lu
s C

hi
ld

3
$0

.0
0

$2
1.

37
1

$0
.0

0
$1

32
.0

0
1

$0
.0

0
$1

32
.0

0
Em

pl
oy

ee
 p

lu
s F

am
ily

1
$0

.0
0

$2
4.

45
2

$0
.0

0
$4

80
.0

0
2

$0
.0

0
$4

80
.0

0
11

$0
.0

0
$1

,3
12

.7
8

13
$0

.0
0

$1
,7

64
.0

0
13

$8
64

.0
0

$9
00

.0
0

De
nt

al
 - 

Pl
an

 C
 (l

ow
es

t c
os

t)
Em

pl
oy

ee
8

$0
.0

0
$3

,3
64

.8
0

9
$0

.0
0

$3
,3

48
.0

0
9

$3
,3

48
.0

0
$0

.0
0

Em
pl

oy
ee

 p
lu

s S
po

us
e

1
$0

.0
0

$8
38

.0
8

3
$0

.0
0

$2
,2

68
.0

0
3

$0
.0

0
$1

,1
52

.0
0

Em
pl

oy
ee

 p
lu

s C
hi

ld
0

$0
.0

0
$0

.0
0

1
$0

.0
0

$7
68

.0
0

1
$0

.0
0

$3
96

.0
0

Em
pl

oy
ee

 p
lu

s F
am

ily
0

$0
.0

0
$0

.0
0

2
$0

.0
0

$9
7.

00
2

$0
.0

0
$1

,5
84

.0
0

9
$0

.0
0

$4
,2

02
.8

8
15

0
$6

,4
81

.0
0

15
$3

,3
48

.0
0

$3
,1

32
.0

0

Li
fe

 In
su

ra
nc

e 
(r

eq
ui

re
d 

by
 C

EB
T)

.
$9

37
.0

4
$0

.0
0

17
$4

24
.3

2
$0

.0
0

17
$4

24
.3

2
$0

.0
0

$1
0,

00
0

$2
0,

00
0

$2
0,

00
0

84



Pa
ge

 4
 o

f 4
7/

7/
20

23

O
ld

 P
la

n-
To

w
n 

fr
om

 2
02

3 
bu

dg
et

 - 
in

cr
ea

se
d 

8%
 

ov
er

 2
02

2

O
ld

 P
la

n-
Em

pl
oy

ee
 fr

om
 

20
23

 b
ud

ge
t  

- 
in

cr
ea

se
d 

8%
 

ov
er

 2
02

2
Kn

ut
so

n 
N

ew
 

Pl
an

 - 
To

w
n

Kn
ut

so
n 

N
ew

 
Pl

an
 - 

Em
pl

oy
ee

TA
 

Re
co

m
m

en
da

ti
on

 - 
To

w
n

TA
 

Re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
n 

- E
m

pl
oy

ee

N
um

be
r o

f 
em

pl
oy

ee
s

Cu
rr

en
t 

fis
ca

l y
ea

r 
en

ro
llm

en
t

Cu
rr

en
t 

fis
ca

l y
ea

r 
en

ro
llm

en
t

TO
W

N
 O

F 
PA

O
N

IA
 2

02
3-

20
24

 H
ea

lth
 In

su
ra

nc
e 

Be
ne

fit
 F

in
an

ci
al

 C
om

pa
ris

on
 

TO
TA

L 
of

 B
en

ef
its

19
$2

43
,5

76
.3

2
17

$1
90

,7
45

.3
2

17
$1

90
,7

45
.3

2

To
ta

l A
ve

ra
ge

 H
ea

lth
 &

 V
is

io
n 

&
 

De
nt

al
 &

 L
ife

 B
en

ef
it 

Em
pr

/E
M

$1
74

,2
03

.6
8

$6
9,

37
2.

64
$1

41
,3

82
.3

2
$4

9,
36

3.
00

$1
66

,6
36

.3
2

$2
4,

10
8.

00
Av

er
ag

e 
Be

ne
fit

 T
ow

n/
Em

 C
os

t 
Pe

r E
m

pl
oy

ee
 T

ow
n/

Em
19

$9
,1

68
.6

1
$3

,6
51

.1
9

17
$8

,3
16

.6
1

$2
,9

03
.7

1
17

$9
,8

02
.1

4
$1

,4
18

.1
2

O
LD

 P
LA

N
 A

VG
 B

EN
EF

IT
 a

s 
pr

ev
io

us
ly

 p
ai

d 
by

 T
ow

n
$1

1,
53

7.
83

$1
,2

81
.9

8

85



 

 

Committee Roles and Responsibilities 

86



1 

RESOLUTION 10-2023

A RESOLUTION ADOPTING RULES CONCERNING THE 

ACTIVITIES OF COMMITTEES ESTABLISHED BY THE BOARD 

OF TRUSTEES 

WHEREAS, the Town Board has established committees consisting of two (2) 

Board members to serve in an advisory capacity and as liaison to the full membership of 

the Board concerning certain categories of Town business, including the Personnel 

Committee, Streets Committee, Public Safety Committee, Parks Committee, and Finance 

Committee (each, a “Board Committee”); and 

WHEREAS, the Town Board desires to adopt rules for all Board Committees, 

currently or hereafter established, to ensure the activities of such Committees do not 

interfere or impermissibly overlap with the roles and responsibilities of Town officers and 

employees, or the powers and duties reserved to the Town Board as a whole.  

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

OF THE TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO, THAT:  

Section 1. The following rules shall apply to all Board Committees currently 

or hereafter established: 

A. Board Committees shall serve in an advisory capacity and as liaison

to the full membership of the Board, and shall have no authority to direct the Town staff, 

or make decisions on behalf of the Town. 

B. Board Committees shall perform only such activities or duties as

have been assigned to them by motion or resolution of the Board of Trustees. 

C. The Board of Trustees will not assign to a Board Committee, and no

Board Committee shall engage in or perform, any activity or duty that interferes with the 

duties of any Town officer or employee.  

Section 2. Any previous resolutions, policies, documents, or any portions 

therefore, that conflict with the provisions of this resolution, are hereby repealed to the 

extent of such conflict.  

PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED by the Board of Trustees of the Town 

of Paonia on this 11th day of July, 2023. 

_____________________________ 

Mary Bachran, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

_______________________________ 

Samira Vetter, Town Clerk 

87



Town of Paonia 

Finance Committee 

Draft 3/20/2023 

 

The Purpose of the Finance Committee is primarily to provide oversight of the Town of Paonia’s 

income and expenses. This is accomplished by working closely with the Finance 

Director/Treasurer who is tasked with managing the Town’s Finances. The Finance Committee 

works with the Finance Director/Treasurer and serves as a liaison between the Town Finance 

Officer/Treasurer and the Town Board of Trustees. The Finance Director/Treasurer is directly 

supervised by the Town Administrator.   

The Town Board of Trustees approves payments of the Town’s expenses and the annual budget. 

The Town Mayor approves payroll spending.  

The duties of the Finance Committee include: 

1. Reviewing all expense invoices with the Finance Director/Treasurer; 

2. Reviewing all payroll with the Finance Director/Treasurer; 

3. Reviewing and approving all bank1 and investment accounts2 through the review of bank 

/investment account statements, transfers between accounts including ACH transfers 

and individual amounts expended in each account; 

4. Serving as primary signatories on checks issued for Town Disbursements.  The Town 

Mayor also serves as an alternate signatory for the Finance Committee when one of the 

Board Trustee Finance Committee members is unable to attend a Finance Committee 

work session.  

5. Reviewing monthly and year-end budget categories to monitor actual income and 

expenditures to budgeted; 

6. Reviewing the annual audit with the Town contracted auditor and serving as a liaison to 

the Board of Trustees concerning the audit;  

7. Recommending approval of payments for Town expenses at each Board of Trustees 

meeting; and, 

8. All other duties deemed necessary by the Audit team, Town Administrator, Board of 

Trustees or the Finance Director/Treasurer as needed to maintain proper internal 

controls. 

1 – Bank accounts include accounts held in a local bank(s) used for payment of operating expenses such 

as payroll, employee benefits and monthly Town expenditures (including loan payments) and other 

funds being held for specific budgeted purposes. 

2 – Investment accounts include certificates of deposit held in local banks and funds set aside for long-

term specifically restricted spending and reserves held in Colotrust trust accounts or local bank money 

market accounts.  

Commented [PS1]: The June 23, 2014, Finance 
Committee duties includes "the Town Clerk and Deputy 
Clerk can sign checks when trustees may not be 
available or for an emergency disbursement." See the 
attached scanned document. Is this true? 

Commented [PS2]: Who constitutes the Audit team? 

88



 

 

 

 

89



Town of Paonia Board of Trustees 

Personnel Committee Duties 

Draft Proposed Revisions 

4/25/2023 
 
 

The purpose of the Personnel Committee is to assist the Mayor the Town Board of Trustees (Board) 

and Mayor with the hiring process, as needed, for the positions of Town Administrator and Town 

Police Chief, as well as managing the job performance evaluation process for both positions and 

Town staff with employee issue and assisting in the hiring of the contract Town Attorney. 

It should be noted that the personnel committee is part of the legislative branch of Town government and 

therefore does not have the authority to directly manage the Town staff. That job is rightly performed by 

the Mayor, the Town Manager and Department Heads. The duties of the committee include: 
 
 

•  Develop personnel policies, present them to the rest of the Board for approval and articulate 

them in the personnel manual. 

•   Budget for Town administrative staff considering needs and resources. 

•   Assist in the hiring and interviewing of new Department Heads. 

•  Assist in other hiring and interviewing when asked by either the Mayor or Department Heads. 

•   Be an appellate for employee concerns and problems when requested 

by an employee, a Department Head or the Mayor. 

•   Review contractors who provide administrative support to the Town. 

•  Report a summary of recent personnel activities at each regular Town meeting. 

 Implementing direction provided through Board motion(s) regarding the creation of Town 

Administrator and/or Police Chief position descriptions, as needed.  

 Ensuring that position descriptions are advertised in print and/or electronic platforms as 

directed by motion(s) of the Board. 

 Accepting, tracking, and managing applications, to include responses to applicants, answering 

questions from applicants and providing candidate application materials to the Board and 

Mayor. 

 Scheduling Board and Mayor interviews with candidates. 

 Assisting in the scheduling and implementation of the public portion of Finalists interviews 

for either position. 

 Contacting applicant references, as needed. 

 In the event the Board decides by motion to hire an Executive Search firm for the hiring of 

either position, the Committee will draft the Request for Proposal, assist the Board in review 

of proposals and manage the contractor chosen. 

 Assisting in the development of the Board approved performance evaluation forms for the 

Town Administrator and Police Chief, respectively.  

 Managing the evaluation process for the personnel in both positions and preparing a summary 

report for the employee reviewed for Board and public presentation. 

 Any actions not provided by staff needed for the hiring of a contract Attorney. 

 

90



Parks Committee Duties 

Draft 

3/10/23 

 

Core Function: Provide an informal forum for citizens, staff, and Trustees to discuss plans, event requests, 

and initiatives for Town Parks.  

 

Purpose: Forward recommendations to Town Board for approval or modification.  

 

Areas of review may include: 

• Listening to citizen priorities, issues, and requests 

• Planning for improvements 

• Review of current park conditions 

• Implementation of Paonia In Motion Plan 

• Walking tours of Parks 

• Making recommendations for priorities to Board for budget and planning  

91



Public Safety Committee Duties 

Draft 

3/10/23 

 

Core Function: Provide an informal forum for citizens, staff, and Trustees to discuss policies and core 

functions of Public Safety. 

 

Purpose: Forward recommendations to Town Administrator/Chief and/orTown Board for approval or 

modification as appropriate. 

 

Questions for Board: 

When issues arise, there is confidentiality and sensitivity to consider. What are the expectations for 

transparency? 

When citizen complaints arise, does this Committee serve as a sounding board (similarly to citizen review 

boards)? 

How should the Committee fit into the structure and reporting relationships of Board, Town 

Administrator, and Chief? 

 

Areas of review may include: 

• Listening to citizen priorities, issues, and requests 

• Serve as a feedback mechanism to Chief on community concerns 

• Planning for improvements 

• Review of current approach 

• Policy review with Lexipol implementation 

• Making recommendations for priorities to Board for budget and planning  

92



 

 

Resolution 2023-08 Appointment of Officers 

93



 

RESOLUTION 08-2023 

A RESOLUTION OF THE 

TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO, 

REGARDING THE APPOINTMENT 

OF OFFICERS – Town Administrator 

and Treasurer 

 
 

WHEREAS, Ms. Leslie Klusmire was appointed to the offices Town Administrator and Treasurer 

pursuant to Resolution No. 07-2023; and 

 

WHEREAS, Ms. Klusmire has completed the term of her services to the Town under the contract 

for Interim Town Administrator Services, and thus there exists vacancies in both of the above-

referenced offices; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Paonia Municipal Code chapter 2, Article 3 Section 2-3-10 requires the 

appointment of officers by a vote of the Board of Trustees; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Board desires to appoint Stefen Wynn to the offices of Town Administrator and 

Treasurer of the Town of Paonia, effective as of his contractual start date of July 12, 2023. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Trustees of the Town of Paonia, 

Colorado, that Stefen Wynn is appointed to the offices of: 

 

   Town Administrator  

Town Treasurer 

 
THIS RESOLUTION WAS READ, PASSED, AND ADOPTED by the Board of Trustees of the 

Town of Paonia on this 11th day of July, 2023. 
 

 

 

Mary Bachran, Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 

 
 

Samira M Vetter, Town Clerk 

94



 

 

Resolution 09-2023 Authorized Signatories 

95



RESOLUTION 09-2023 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE TOWN OF PAONIA 

DESIGNATING AUTHORIZED SIGNATURES ON APPLICATIONS OF NEW 

OR CHANGES TO BANK AND CREDIT ACCOUNTS 

WHEREAS, the Town Board believes it would be appropriate and in accordance 

with proper auditing, bookkeeping, and accounting standards for the purpose of 

maintaining best practices for municipal financial external controls to require a 

combination of staff and elected official signatures on all applications to set up new or 

changes to bank and credit accounts. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Trustees of the Town 

of Paonia, Colorado, that: 

Section 1. All applications for bank accounts or credit accounts shall require 

the following signatures: 

1. Stefen Wynn (Town Administrator) or Samira Vetter (Town Clerk);

AND

2. Mary Bachran (Mayor) or Thomas Markle (Mayor Pro-Tem)

Section 2. All such setting up new accounts or changes to accounts, shall 

henceforth require a combination of one of the persons listed in paragraph #1 and one of 

the persons listed in paragraph #2 above. 

Section 3. Ms. Leslie Klusmire is hereby removed as an authorized signer 

on Town bank accounts and credit accounts. 

THIS RESOLUTION WAS READ, PASSED, AND ADOPTED by the Board 

of Trustees of the Town of Paonia on this 11th day of July, 2023. 

 Mary Bachran, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

      Samira Vetter, Town Clerk 

Formatted: Thick underline

Formatted: No underline

Formatted: No underline

96



 

Resolution 11-2023 Remote Meetings and 

Participation 

97



RESOLUTION NO. 11- 2023 

 

A RESOLUTION REGARDING REMOTE PARTICIPATION AND VOTING 

IN MEETINGS OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 

 WHEREAS, remote participation and remotely hosted meetings serve a valuable purpose 

when the Mayor or a Trustee is unable to attend a meeting in person or when the Board of Trustees 

as a whole is unable to meet in person; and 

 

 WHEREAS, remote participation is particularly valuable when, but for the option of remote 

participation, the Board would be unable to achieve a quorum and vote on public business; and 

 

 WHEREAS, while valuable under certain circumstances, there are inherent limitations to 

remote meetings and remote meeting participation, including audio and video issues that can make it 

more difficult to participate in the meeting, increased difficulty in viewing presentations and 

documentary information, increased difficulty in evaluating nonverbal communications (such as 

determining an individual's veracity or credibility or seeing demonstrations), and limited ability of 

attending members to interact with remote participants; and 

 

 WHEREAS, for the reasons set forth above, the Board finds that utilization of remote 

meeting participation and remotely hosted meetings shall be limited as set forth in this resolution. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF 

THE TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO, THAT:  

 

A. Remote Participation – Meetings Hosted at Town Hall  

 

1. Remote participation, when authorized by this resolution, shall constitute presence 

in person at the meeting for purposes of establishing a quorum and voting. 

 

2. A member of the Board, including the Mayor, may participate in a regular meeting, 

special meeting, executive session, or work session (each, a “meeting”) of the Board of Trustees 

by phone or video for “good cause,” which shall include, but not be limited to, circumstances that 

may (i) prevent such person’s physical attendance at the meeting, or (ii) compromise such person’s 

health or the health of others if such person were to attend the meeting in person. 

 

3. A member of the Board, including the Mayor, should give the Town Clerk 

reasonable advance notice of planned travel that will prevent such person’s physical presence at a 

meeting so that the Town Clerk and other Town staff may adequately prepare for such person’s 

remote participation; provided that, failure to provide advance notice to the Town Clerk shall not 

preclude such person from participating and voting remotely in the meeting. 

 

4. A member joining a Board meeting remotely may participate in and vote on any 

item before the Board of Trustees at such meeting, including quasi-judicial matters, provided the 

member is able to view, hear, and consider all testimony and other evidence presented at the public 

hearing in a manner similar to those Board members attending the meeting in person. 

98



 

B. Special Procedures for Remote Participation by Mayor 

 

1. Due to the inherent limitations of remote meeting participation, the Mayor Pro Tem 

will preside over and chair meetings at which the Mayor is not in physical attendance.  

 

2. In the event the Mayor Pro Tem is performing the Mayor's duties pursuant to this 

resolution, the Mayor Pro Tem shall continue to be counted to determine the existence of a quorum 

and to have all the rights, obligations and authority of a Trustee, including the right to vote. 

However, Mayor Pro Tem does not have the authority to determine the outcome of a tied vote of 

the Board of Trustees or the power of veto, such powers and authority being personal only to the 

Mayor, pursuant to Section 31-4-302, C.R.S., and the ordinances of the Town. 

 

3. When participating remotely, the Mayor shall retain the authority to determine the 

outcome of a tied vote of the Board of Trustees and the power of veto. 

 

C. Meetings Hosted Remotely  

 

1. The Mayor or any four (4) Trustees may order that a meeting be hosted remotely 

by way of video conference for “good cause,” which shall include, but not be limited to, the 

following circumstances:  

 

 (a) Meeting in person is not practical or prudent due to a health epidemic or 

pandemic or other state of emergency affecting the Town;  

 

 (b) Meeting in person is not practical or prudent due to inclement weather; 

 

 (c) The Town Hall is unavailable to host the meeting; or 

 

 (d)  It is reasonably anticipated that the sole items on the agenda will be 

discussed in work session or executive session, and that no votes or formal decisions will occur at 

any time during the meeting. 

 

2. At least twenty-four (24) hours written notice shall be provided to each Board 

member that the meeting will be held remotely and the agenda for such meeting shall be revised 

to reflect the same.  

 

3. The Town Clerk, or a designee in the Clerk’s absence, shall take reasonable and 

practical measures to ensure that remote meetings, excepting executive sessions, are open to the 

public at all times, and that information is provided to enable the public to join the meeting 

remotely and participate at a level as close as possible to a meeting held in person. 

 

4. The Town Clerk, or a designee in the Clerk’s absence, shall take further reasonable 

and practical measures to ensure that Board members can access all packet materials and hear and 

communicate with one another and the Town staff in a manner designed to provide maximum 

participation and informed votes. 

99



 

5. No public hearings on quasi-judicial matters and no votes on quasi-judicial actions 

shall be taken during a remote meetings except upon written request of the applicant. If so requested, 

public hearings and votes on quasi-judicial matters must be held in accordance with procedures and 

using such electronic means approved in advance by the Town Attorney, which are designed to ensure 

due process and enable hearings to be conducted in a manner that reflects, to the greatest extent 

possible, hearings conducted in person.   

 

6. Any applicant requesting a quasi-judicial hearing be held at a remote meeting shall 

acknowledge the legal risks involved and agree to proceed at the applicant’s own risk.  Land use 

applicants shall also be required to agree to defend and indemnify the Town in any action that may 

arise out of, or in connection with, conducting the hearing at the remote meeting. 

 

7. If the Mayor, in consultation with the Town Administrator and Town Attorney, 

determines that sufficient procedures or electronic means are not available to hold a quasi-judicial 

hearing during a remote Board meeting, any quasi-judicial matter scheduled for such remote meeting 

shall be continued by motion of the Board of Trustees to the date and time of the next regular or 

special meeting to be held in person. If the Board is unable to determine when the next in-person 

meeting will be held, such quasi-judicial matters will be vacated and new public notice provided when 

such quasi-judicial matters are rescheduled. 

 

D. Ratification. All votes heretofore cast remotely by Board members, including the Mayor 

in cases of a tie, whether during meetings hosted remotely, or hosted in person but in which the 

subject member participated remotely, are hereby ratified and affirmed.  

 

PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED by the Board of Trustees of the Town of 

Paonia on this 11th day of July, 2023. 

 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Mary Bachran, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_______________________________ 

Samira Vetter, Town Clerk 

 

 

 

 

100



 

 

Colorado Growing Water Smart Workshop 

101



 
 
 
 

Town Board Staff Report 
 
Subject:   Opportunity to attend Colorado Growing 

Water Smart Workshop in October. 

 
Author: Mayor Bachran 

 
Date:  July 11, 2023   

 
Specific request: Designation of Board members who would like to attend this workshop  

 
Summary Recommendation 
At least one Board member to volunteer to attend the workshop. 

 
Executive Summary 
This workshop is an excellent opportunity for staff and Board members to think about and create 

a plan for the future of water use in our area. The team will need to consist of 5-7 people who 

will work together to fill out the application and then submit with a chance to be selected. The 

team must contain at least one elected or appointed official, one current or long-range land use 

planner, one water resource manager and then two to four other designated members from the list 

included in the brochure. Only 6 teams will be selected to participate in the program. Upon 

completion, teams become eligible to apply for up to $10,000 in technical assistance funding to 

help carry out the strategy created. 

  
The Problem/Background/Intent 
The Town needs to create a sustainable, long term plan to deal with the effects of climate 

change, growth and the changes in our watershed. This is an excellent opportunity for a variety 

of participants to formulate a such a plan. 

  
Funding Source and Fiscal Impact 
The Colorado River District, all housing and meals will be covered. Only mileage to Grand 

Junction will need to be covered by the Town.  
 
Attachments 
Colorado Growing Water Smart Brochure 

  

102



                  

Resilient Communities and Watersheds     1

The Growing Water Smart Workshop
The Growing Water Smart workshop brings key community decisionmakers 
on water and land use planning together to collaborate on sustainable 
water use. The workshop utilizes a range of public engagement, planning, 
communication, and policy implementation tools to help community teams 
realize their water efficiency, watershed health, and water resilience goals. 

The Sonoran Institute and Babbitt Center for Land and Water Policy are 
accepting applications from entities in Colorado that are interested in 
participating in the Growing Water Smart training and assistance program. 

Location: Grand Junction, CO 
Date: October 23-25, 2023 
Eligibility: Counties, municipalities, and districts located in Colorado 
Costs: The workshop is free. Participants cover their own travel. Meals and 
lodging are provided.  
 
What makes this workshop unique?

Time: A rare opportunity to for local leaders to focus - away from competing 
priorities - on the connection between water and land use with a cross 
departmental and cross sector team. 

Structure: A majority of the workshop is spent in team work sessions. Each 
team gets nearly twelve hours of professionally facilitated discussion to help 
teams develop a concrete plan of action. 

Access: Staff from some of the state’s leading organizations working to 
integrate water and land use including the Colorado River District, Sonoran 
Institute, the Babbitt Center for Land and Water Policy, Colorado Water 
Conservation Board, Department of Local Affairs, CSU Colorado Water 
Center, and many additional leading water experts. 

Action: The workshop works towards creating a team action plan developed 
by consensus. After the workshop teams can apply for a follow-up technical 
assistance grant to implement key components of the action plan. 

Network: Spend time learning from your peers and upon completion teams 
join a Peer-to-Peer network of over 68 communities in Colorado who have 
participated in the GWS Workshop. 

COLORADO
GROWING WATER SMART
REQUEST FOR APPLICATIONS   October 2023 Workshop

The Land and Water 
Challenge
Colorado is navigating significant 
uncertainty around water 
availability, requiring local 
jurisdictions to fundamentally 
rethink water use and to assume 
new leadership roles.

Historically, planning for water 
resources and land use have been 
conducted separately. Yet, where 
and how we build impacts the 
quantity of water needed and the 
quality of water that supports our 
ecosystems. 

Elected officials, water resource 
managers, and land use planners 
can increase resilience and create 
water smart communities even as 
populations grow by collaborating 
to identify and implement 
strategies that address local and 
regional water concerns.

103



2     Resilient Communities and Watersheds

Program at a Glance 
The Growing Water Smart workshop offers your team 
the time to collaborate and focus on the water resource 
challenges that are influencing your community’s growth 
and development. The program is comprised of the 
following elements:

Team-Oriented Work Sessions: Teams assess 
community data, trends, and existing policies; develop 
succinct messaging around water; identify strategies 
to become water resilient; and develop an action plan 
to implement these strategies. Sessions are facilitated 
by professionals in the field who guide teams through 
strategic discussions. 

Learning Best Practices: Presentations and written 
materials provide key knowledge around integrating water 
conservation, efficiency, reuse, and watershed protection 
into existing and future development.

Peer-to-Peer Networking: Participants meet and 
exchange ideas with peers from other jurisdictions and 
past workshop participants. 

Follow up Funding
Upon workshop completion, teams become eligible to 
apply for up to $10,000 in technical assistance funding to 
help carry out a water and land use integration strategy 
identified in the team’s action plan.

Previous projects have included:

• Land use code audits and policy recommendations
• The inclusion of water in comprehensive plan updates
• Collaborative stakeholder engagement and facilitation
• Metrics to measure water and land use integration
• Turf removal and low water use demonstration gardens

Jeremy Stapleton with Aerial Support by LightHawkPixabay

Sonoran Institute Sonoran Institute

“Colorado Growing Water Smart opened our 
eyes about critical gaps in our planning efforts. 
Following the workshop, our local governments 
and service providers are seeking to use a 
common set of data and growth projections 
in our planning efforts.  We expect this 
collaboration will expand to other issues in our 
community.” 
James Dickoff | Town of Pagosa Springs

104



Resilient Communities and Watersheds     3

Eligibility and Team Composition
The workshop is designed to build and foster inter-
disciplinary teams from counties, municipalities, and districts 
committed to taking collaborative action around water. In this 
round, we will select six teams to participate in our program, 
creating an intimate setting where individuals can truly get 
to know their peers while fostering a diverse range of teams. 
Applicants build a team of five to seven individuals with 
diverse knowledge, skills, and perspectives needed to secure 
their community’s water future and implement the developed 
action plan. Team composition varies to reflect the needs of 
each community, and often includes:

• Elected and appointed officials*
• Current and long-range land use planners*
• Water resource managers*
• Economic development leaders
• Sustainability and resilience officers
• Parks and public works staff
• Representatives of regional planning organizations
• Local non-profit organizational representatives
• Community task force members
• Consultants contributing to your current water and  

land use efforts 

* Denotes required representative

Multi-jurisdictional or regional teams may also apply. One or 
more representatives from each local government should be 
represented, and the team should be in pursuit of a common 
water goal. 

How to Apply
To participate in our Growing Water Smart program, please 
submit answers to the following five questions in .doc or .pdf 
format to growingwatersmart@sonoraninstitute.org 

Please limit responses to 250-500 words per question.
 
1. Team Composition: Provide the names, titles, 
organizations, and email addresses of 5-7 team members 
who will participate in the workshop. Please identify who will 
serve as the team leader for pre-workshop communication.

2. Water Awareness: Describe your community’s water 
challenges, particularly around balancing water supply and 
demand, but also around stormwater management, integrated 
water resource management, and watershed health, as 
applicable. How well do decision-makers and the community 
understand and prioritize these challenges?

3. Planning and Policy: What plans, policies, and       
programs are currently in place in your community that 
address water in new and existing development? How well 
are they being implemented? What plans or processes are in 
progress related to water and land use planning integration?

4. Community Readiness: How are your land use planners 
and water resource managers currently collaborating around 
water and land use? Please describe any opportunities or 
challenges that you want to address during this workshop.

5. Desired Outcomes: What does your community hope 
to achieve from participation in the Growing Water Smart 
workshop? How does your community believe it will benefit 
from better integration of water and land use planning? 
Please be as specific as possible. 

“Colorado Growing Water Smart helped Fort 
Collins better collaborate with all of our 
water providers to plan for growth so that we 
consider cost and availability of water.” 
Donnie Dustin | City of Fort Collins 

Jeremy Stapleton with Aerial Support by LightHawkAmy McCoy, with Martin & McCoy LLC

105



About the Sonoran Institute
The Sonoran Institute’s mission is to connect people and 
communities with the natural resources that nourish and 
sustain them. Learn more about how you can help at 
SonoranInstitute.org/donate. Your support preserves the 
environment for future generations and makes a lasting 
impact in communities across Western North America. 

Go to SonoranInstitute.org to learn about our programs, 
history, and recent news. Or find us on Social Media:

About the Babbitt Center for Land 
and Water Policy
The Babbitt Center for Land and Water Policy, a Center 
of the Lincoln Institute of Land Policy, seeks to advance 
the integration of land and water management to meet 
the current and future needs of Colorado River Basin 
communities, economies, and the environment.

facebook.com/sonoraninstitute

@sonoraninstitute

SonoranInstituteFlix

@sonoraninstitute

About the Colorado River District
The Colorado River District’s mission is to lead in the 
protection, conservation, use, and development of the 
water resources of the Colorado River water basin for the 
welfare of the District, and to safeguard for Colorado all 
waters of the Colorado River to which the state is entitled.

4     Resilient Communities and Watersheds

Jeremy Stapleton Sonoran Institute

Selection Criteria
This workshop is targeted to serve municipal, county, 
and district members of the Colorado River District, 
however Colorado communities not served by the 
Colorado River District are also welcome to apply.

Teams will be selected based on:

1. Team composition that includes required 
representatives.

2. Demonstrated local commitment toward addressing 
water sustainability. 

3. Severity of need around current and projected 
water conditions.

4. Capacity to foster dialogue or partnerships                                                                                                                                    
among agencies and entities overseeing land use                                                                                                                                              
planning and water resource management. 

Application Process 
1. Submit your application by August 4, 2023.

2. Accepted teams will by notified by August 18, 2023

Contact Information
We are here to help! If you are interested in applying 
or have questions about the program, please contact: 

Waverly Klaw, AICP 
Director, Growing Water Smart 
Sonoran Institute 
growingwatersmart@sonoraninstitute.org

Funding for Colorado Growing Water Smart is provided 
by the Colorado Water Conservation Board, Gates 
Family Foundation, Mighty Arrow Family Foundation 
and the Colorado River District.

This workshop is offered in Arizona, California, 
Colorado and the US-Mexico Border. 

106

http://sonoraninstitute.org/donate
http://sonoraninstitute.org
http://facebook.com/sonoraninstitute
https://twitter.com/sonoraninst?ref_src=twsrc%5Egoogle%7Ctwcamp%5Eserp%7Ctwgr%5Eauthor
https://www.youtube.com/user/SonoranInstituteFlix
https://www.instagram.com/sonoraninstitute/
http://facebook.com/sonoraninstitute
https://twitter.com/sonoraninst?ref_src=twsrc%5Egoogle%7Ctwcamp%5Eserp%7Ctwgr%5Eauthor
https://www.youtube.com/user/SonoranInstituteFlix
https://www.instagram.com/sonoraninstitute/
mailto:climateresilience%40sonoraninstitute.org?subject=Growing%20Water%20Smart%20%7C%20Application


 

Approval of award of bid to K&D 

Construction (low bidder)for replacement 

of Dorris Avenue sewer line 

107



 

respec.com 333.05 - Dorris Ave Sewer Replacement 

 

 

5540 Tech Center Drive 

Suite 100 

Colorado Springs, CO  80919 

719.227.0072 

July 7, 2023 

 

 

 

Cory Heiniger 

Public Works Director 

Town of Paonia  

214 Grand Ave 

Paonia, CO 81428 

 

RE: Dorris Ave Sewer Replacement 

 

Dear Mr. Heiniger: 

 

The purpose of this letter is to recommend a Notice of Award to general contractor K&D 

Construction for the Dorris Ave Sewer Replacement project. Town staff and our office 

reviewed their bid received on June 30th, 2023. Additionally, at our request, K&D Construction 

promptly provided references for similar municipal work. Based on information available, K&D 

Construction appears to be the lowest responsible bidder and capable of executing the 

project competently.  

 

The next step after board approval would be to issue a Notice of Award (NOA). The NOA 

should be accompanied by unsigned contract documents. The contractor will then have 15 

days to execute contract documents and provide insurance and bonding records, as 

required.  

 

If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to ask.  

 

Sincerely, 

 

James Starnes, PE 

Project Manager 

 

james.starnes@respec.com 

719.227.0072 

108

mailto:james.starnes@respec.com


 

Accountant/ Deputy Clerk Viewing Access 

 

109



 
 
 

Town Board Staff Report 
 
Subject:    
Consideration and approval of granting Amanda Mojarro 

view only access to Town bank accounts 

 
Author:  Mayor Bachran 

 
Date:  July 11, 2023  

 
Specific request:  Approve Amanda Mojarro to electronically only view all bank accounts.  

 
Summary Recommendation 
Approve Amanda Mojarro to electronically only view all bank accounts. 

 
Executive Summary 
For her to effectively perform her job as Accountant/Deputy Clerk helping Michelle Duran at 

Professional Management Solutions reconcile accounts, work on the audit, budget and other 

financial tasks, Ms. Mojarro needs to be able to view the information in all the bank accounts 

and provide that information to Ms. Duran. At this point only Town Clerk Ms. Vetter has that 

ability, and it is not part of her job. Ms. Mojarro will only be able to view the account 

information. She will retain the ability to ask for fund transfers in the operating account only 

with the approval of the Mayor to complete payroll and pay bills. 

  
The Problem/Background/Intent 
At this point in time, Ms. Mojarro does not have the access to view bank account information 

that enables her to effectively perform her job.  

 
Options/Alternatives for Town Board to Consider 

 Allow Ms. Mojarro to view all accounts and ask for transfers in the operating account 

only. 

 Keep things as they are and have the Town Clerk perform duties outside of her job scope. 

  
Funding Source and Fiscal Impact 
None.  
 
  

110



 

 

DOLA EIAF Tier II 

111



 
 
 
 

Town Board Staff Report 
 
Subject:   Consideration and approval of submitting a 

DOLA EIAF $1,000,000 grant for 2mg tank relining 

 
Author: Mayor Bachran 

 
Date:  July 11, 2023  

 
Specific request: Approval of  submission of a $1,000,000 DOLA Energy Impact Assistance 

Fund Grant to help with the costs of relining the 2 million gallon storage tank 

 
Summary Recommendation 
Approve the grant submission 

 
Executive Summary 
While Town is in the process of procuring a State Revolving Fund Loan of approximately 

$5,000,000 to reline the 2 million gallon storage tank, replace about 8,000 feet of distribution 

pipe, repair springs and replace all steel and cast iron lines in the Town system, the addition of a 

$1,000,000 grant from DOLA using matching funds equal to the grant amount from the loan 

funds, we can possibly reduce the amount of the loan. 

 

The Problem/Background/Intent 
The Town needs to address the significant issues addressed above with the most cost-effective 

combination of loans and grants. This grant may allow us to reduce the loan amount leading to 

better loan terms. 

 
Options/Alternatives for Town Board to Consider 

 Submit the grant 

 Don’t submit the grant  
  
Funding Source and Fiscal Impact 
DOLA grant funds, will increase the money the Town has available at no cost to the Town  
 
 

112



 

 

SIPA Grant 

113



 
 
 
 

Town Board Staff Report 
 
Subject:   Consideration and approval of submission of a 

State Internet Portal Authority (SIPA) Grant of up to 

$6,500 for professional technical assistance 

 
Author: Mayor Bachran  

 
Date:  July 11, 2023  

 
Specific request: Consideration and approval of submitting a SIPA grant  

 
Summary Recommendation 
Approve submitting a SIPA grant for professional technical assistance. 

 
Executive Summary 
Approximately 10 months ago, the Town received a SIPA grant to purchase equipment to 

upgrade the Town’s audiovisual equipment for Town meetings. For a variety of reasons, that 

process was delayed until early 2023. After the equipment was purchased, the Trustee who 

designed the system became very ill and could not help install it. The Mayor and Ruben Santiago 

attempted to assemble they system so that it would function. There remain issues in the operation 

that are not able to be solved with the technical capabilities available to the Town. A grant from 

SIPA for technical assistance from a professional could help resolve these issues.  

  
The Problem/Background/Intent 
Unresolved issues with the audiovisual system that requires more expertise than is available to 

the Town. 

 
Options/Alternatives for Town Board to Consider 
Approve submission of the grant 

Don’t approve grant submission  
  
Funding Source and Fiscal Impact 
SIPA, no match required, money available for technical assisstance  
 
 
  

114



 

 

River District Grant Agreement 

115



 
 
 
 

Town Board Staff Report 
 
Subject:   Consideration and approval of River District 

Grant Contract 

 
Author: Mayor Bachran 

 
Date:  July 11, 2023  

 
Specific request: Approval of Contract for $25,000 River District Grant  

 
Summary Recommendation 
Approve the grant contract 

 
Executive Summary 
Paonia has been granted $25,000 from the River District as matching funds for the 

hydrogeological study. The contract needs Board approval before signing. 

  
Options/Alternatives for Town Board to Consider 

 Accept the grant and authorize the Mayor to sign. 

 Reject the grant.  
  
Funding Source and Fiscal Impact 
Colorado River District, increases funds the Town can use for the hydrogeological study.  

 
  

116



Page 1 of 7  CFP2023-19  
 

Community Funding Partnership Contract 
 
 This Contract is made and entered into by and between the COLORADO RIVER WATER 
CONSERVATION DISTRICT (herein the "River District") and TOWN OF PAONIA (herein 
“Awardee”) effective as of the date of the River District’s execution hereof. 
 

RECITALS 
 

A. The River District is charged by its organic statute, C.R.S. § 37-46-101, et seq., with 
securing and ensuring adequate water supplies, both present and future, for beneficial uses 
within the River District's boundaries. 
 

B. In 2020, the registered electorate of the River District approved Ballot Question 7.A. 
authorizing a mill levy increase to generate additional funding further enabling the River 
District to protect and safeguard western Colorado water. 

 
C. The River District has adopted the Community Funding Partnership Framework 

(“Framework”) and the Community Funding Partnership Guidelines (“Guidelines”) 
articulating its clear intent on how the additional funding would be used to assist its 
constituents such as the Awardee. 
 

D. To assist it constituents, including the Awardee, the River District has established its 
Community Funding Partnership (“CFP”) 

 
E. Awardee proposes to complete the project described herein and has made application to 

the River District’s CFP for financial assistance pursuant to and in compliance with the 
River District’s Framework and Guidelines. 

 
F. The River District has reviewed the Awardee’s project proposal pursuant to its Framework 

and Guidelines and desires to assist with the funding of the project subject to the terms and 
conditions of this Contract, and Awardee desires to receive such financial assistance from 
the River District as provided herein. 
 

AGREEMENTS 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and the mutual promises 
agreed to herein, the parties agree as set forth below. 

 
1. Awardee’s Project Plan and Budget. The Awardee shall, in a satisfactory manner as 

determined by the River District, use the River District CFP funding consistent with the 
Project Plan and Budget (“Project”) as described herein and attached as Exhibit A.  The 
funding provided by the River District to Awardee shall be used only for the Project.  In 
the event the Awardee needs or desires to make changes to the Project as described in 
Exhibit A, any expenditures of River District’s CFP funds shall be contingent on the prior 
written approval of the change by River District. 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E8F9D295-6D68-4178-942C-561B97C6696A

117



Page 2 of 7  CFP2023-19  
 

 
A. The period of performance for the Project is three years following the date of the 

Award letter.  
 

Project Performance Start Date:  
Tuesday, May 30, 2023   
Project Performance Termination Date: 
Monday, June 1, 2026   

 
2.  River District's Financial Assistance. 
 

A. River District agrees to provide financial assistance to the Awardee in an amount 
not to exceed $25,000.00 (the “Total Award”). 
 

B. After execution of the contract and within 90 days of project commencement, the 
Awardee will notify the River District of the intended date of project 
commencement.  Within thirty (30) days following notification, , the River District 
will forward to Awardee $6,250.00, which constitutes twenty-five (25%) of the 
Total Award. 

 
C. Once the Contract has been fully executed by all parties, and all other required 

documentation has been received fifty percent (50%) of the Total Award will be 
paid through “progress payments” in no more than two twenty-five percent (25%) 
increments.  The remaining twenty-five percent (25%) will be paid upon a 
determination that the Project is substantially complete and the District has received 
a completed “Request for Final Payment” form including all required 
documentation from the Awardee in accordance with Paragraph 4, below. 

 
D. Within thirty (30) days of River District staff approval of a completed “Request for 

Final Payment” form, in compliance with subparagraph 4.A below, the River 
District will forward to Awardee the remaining amount of the Total Award. If the 
total cost of the Project is less than originally estimated at the time of application, 
the River District may reduce the River District award proportionally at the 
discretion of the General Manager. 

 
E. If determined necessary by the River District, the River District will issue Awardee 

an IRS 1099 form and other applicable federal or state revenue reporting forms for 
each year in which funds are distributed pursuant to this Contract.  Awardee is and 
shall be solely liable and responsible for any federal and state taxes applicable to 
this Contract and any financial assistance received hereunder.  Awardee shall 
indemnify the River District for any liability resulting from non-payment of such 
taxes. 
 

3. Awardee’s Compliance with Applicable Local, State, and Federal Laws.  The work 
performed pursuant to this Contract shall comply, at all times, with all applicable local, 
state, and federal laws and regulations.  Awardee shall not discriminate against any person 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E8F9D295-6D68-4178-942C-561B97C6696A

118



Page 3 of 7  CFP2023-19  
 

because of age, sex, race, national origin, ancestry, disability, religion, or other protected 
classification. 
 

 
4. Final Payment and Repayment of River District Grant. 
 

A. Within sixty (60) days after completion of the Project, Awardee shall submit to the 
River District a completed “Request for Final Payment” form. Timely submission 
shall be required for final payment pursuant to subparagraph 2.D. above. 

 
B. If completion of the Project is interrupted or delayed beyond the contract 

termination date stated in subparagraph 1.A above, Awardee shall notify the River 
District on or before Thursday, April 2, 2026  and request a Contract Amendment 
to extend the termination date.  

 
C. Awardee shall not be eligible for final payment if the River District does not receive 

a completed Request for Final Payment form on or before Friday, July 31, 2026  
 
5. Awardee's Additional Responsibilities and Liabilities. 
 

A. Awardee shall be responsible for making all contracts and assuring the acquisition 
of all interests in property or other rights and all permits or other governmental 
approvals needed to complete the Project. 

 
B. Awardee shall be responsible for the acts, errors and omissions of itself and its 

employees, consultants, agents, and any other persons employed or retained on 
behalf of Awardee in connection with the Project and for the acts, errors and 
omissions of the Project's owners and users.  Awardee agrees to indemnify, hold 
harmless, and defend the River District and its directors, officers, employees, 
agents, and attorneys for the actions, errors and omissions of Awardee and 
Awardee's employees, consultants, agents, and any other persons employed or 
retained on behalf of Awardee in the performance of this Contract and for the acts, 
errors and omissions of the Project's owners and users.  The parties recognize that 
the River District is a governmental entity subject to the provisions of the Colorado 
Governmental Immunity Act, C.R.S. § 24-10-101, et seq. 

 
C. At its sole cost Awardee or its contractor(s) shall purchase and maintain in effect 

through Project completion insurance which will protect it and the River District 
from claims which may arise out of, result from or be related to Awardee’s 
performance of the work on the Project, whether such performance be by itself or 
by anyone directly or indirectly retained or employed by Awardee or by anyone for 
whose acts, errors, or omissions any of them may be liable.  Such insurances 
required herein shall be written for limits of liability as follows: 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E8F9D295-6D68-4178-942C-561B97C6696A

119



Page 4 of 7  CFP2023-19  
 

i. Commercial General Liability: 
(1) Bodily Injury and Property Damage: 

     $1,000,000 each occurrence/$1,000,000 aggregate 
(2) Personal Injury: 

     $1,000,000 each occurrence/$1,000,000 aggregate 
 

ii. Commercial Automobile Liability:  
(1) Bodily Injury & Property Damage: 

     $1,000,000 any one accident or loss 
 

iii. Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability: 
   (1) Workers’ Compensation:  Statutory 
   (2) Employer’s Liability: 
     $100,000 each accident 
     $100,000 disease - each employee 
     $500,000 disease - policy limit 
 

D. The Commercial General Liability and Commercial Automobile Liability policies 
required hereunder shall include the River District named as additional insured.  If 
Awardee’s Contractor is providing the necessary insurance Awardee shall also be 
named an additional insured. Awardee shall supply the River District with a 
certificate of each insurance policy required herein prior to or along with the notice 
of project commencement in accordance with Paragraph 2.B.  The certificates of 
insurance shall evidence that the premium has been paid and contain a valid 
provision or endorsement that the policies may not be canceled, terminated, 
changed or modified without thirty (30) days written notice to the River District.  
Each certificate of insurance must reference the contract number assigned to this 
Agreement (CFP2023-19).  

 
E. Awardee warrants performance of this Contract and the completion of all work 

required for the Project.  Awardee and any persons working on its behalf shall at 
all times comply with all applicable local, state, and federal laws and regulations.  
Not by way of limitation of the foregoing, it is specifically agreed that neither 
Awardee nor any persons working on its behalf on the Project shall discriminate 
against any person because of age, race, sex, national origin, ancestry, disability, or 
religion. 

 
6. Authorized Representatives. 
 

A. The River District designates Amy Moyer, as its representative for primary contact 
for the River District in connection with this Contract. The address, telephone 
number and email address for notices and communications is: 201 Centennial 
Street, Suite 200, Glenwood Springs, Colorado 81601, phone: (970) 945-8522, 
amoyer@crwcd.org.  

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E8F9D295-6D68-4178-942C-561B97C6696A

120

mailto:amoyer@crwcd.org


Page 5 of 7  CFP2023-19  
 

B. Awardee designates Mary Bachran as its representative to act for Awardee in 
connection with this Contract.  The address, telephone number and email address 
for notices and communications is: PO Box 460, Paonia, CO 81428, phone:970-
527-4101, email: maryb@townofpaonia.com 

 
7. Miscellaneous. 
 

A. Assignment.  This Contract involves the grant of public money.  Consequently, this 
Contract shall not be assigned by Awardee without the River District’s prior written 
approval, which may be withheld in the River District’s sole discretion. 

 
B. Binding Effect.  This Contract shall be immediately binding upon both parties and 

their respective successors, if any. 
 

C. No Partnership, Joint Venture or Third Party Beneficiaries.  This Contract is not 
intended to and does not create any legal partnership, joint venture or similar 
relationship between the River District and Awardee or any other persons or 
entities.  The enforcement of the terms and conditions of this Contract and all rights 
of action relating to such enforcement shall be strictly reserved to the River District 
and Awardee, and nothing contained in this Contract shall give or allow any claim 
or right of action whatsoever by any other third person or entity.  It is the express 
intent of the parties to this Contract that any person or entity receiving services or 
benefits under this Contract shall be deemed an incidental beneficiary only. 

 
D. Additional Limitations on the River District's Responsibilities.  The River District's 

involvement with the Project's construction and operation shall be limited to 
payment of the above sum to Awardee.  The River District shall not be responsible 
for or in control of the Project's feasibility, implementation, operation, 
maintenance, repair, or replacement. 

 
E. Remedies.  If Awardee is in breach or default of any obligation under this Contract, 

the River District may give Awardee written notice of such breach or default.  Upon 
receipt of such notice, within thirty (30) days Awardee shall both cure such breach 
or default and provide the River District evidence of such cure.  If Awardee fails to 
cure any such breach or default within thirty (30) days, the River District may 
terminate this Contract and Awardee shall be required to promptly repay to the 
River District the full amount of any grant funds received.  In any action for breach 
or for enforcement of this Contract, the River District shall be entitled to recover 
its attorneys fees and litigation costs.  

 
F. Notices.  All notices required or appropriate pursuant to this Contract shall be given 

in writing to the parties’ designated representatives at the addresses stated in 
paragraph 6.   

 
G. Entire Agreement/Amendments. This Contract is the complete integrated 

understanding between the parties.  No prior or contemporaneous addition, 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E8F9D295-6D68-4178-942C-561B97C6696A

121



Page 6 of 7  CFP2023-19  
 

deletion, or other amendment to this Contract shall have any force or effect unless 
stated in writing approved and executed by both parties. 

 
(continued on next page) 

  

DocuSign Envelope ID: E8F9D295-6D68-4178-942C-561B97C6696A

122



Page 7 of 7  CFP2023-19  
 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have accepted, made and executed this 
Contract upon the terms, conditions and provisions stated herein. 
 
      COLORADO RIVER WATER 

CONSERVATION DISTRICT 
 
 
DATE: ______________  By: __________________________________________ 
      Andrew A. Mueller, Secretary/General Manager 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
_____________________________ By: _____________________________________ 
Audrey Turner, Chief of Operations  Jason V. Turner, Senior Counsel 
        
        
 
     TOWN OF PAONIA 
 
 
     By: ____________________________________ 
     Name: Mary Bachran 
     Title: Mayor 
 
  

DocuSign Envelope ID: E8F9D295-6D68-4178-942C-561B97C6696A

123



 
 

Exhibit A.1 Scope of Work 
 

   
v. September 2022 

 
Date: May 31, 2023 
Awardee: Town of Paonia 
Project Name: Hydrogeological Study of Paonia Springs 
 
Project Summary:  
The Town of Paonia is moving forward to meter and rehabilitate its spring complexes, address water 
loss, repair and replace water storage and defective and aging infrastructure. To ensure that Town 
water supply to 2,500 people is reliable in the coming decades, our engineers have recommended we 
first conduct a hydrogeology study and sustainability plan that addresses watershed health and 
resiliency. Climate conditions are changing. We need innovative solutions to secure our municipal 
supply, create benefits for agricultural producers and contribute to the Colorado Water Plan.   
 
The hydrogeology study will provide information needed to understand the aquifers that feed the 
spring systems and help us create a comprehensive watershed drought resiliency plan for all users. 
This information is vital to help us more efficiently recharge groundwater, increase storage volume, 
improve source water quality, identify innovative strategies to enhance watershed resilience, benefit 
recreation and agriculture, and ensure long-term source water reliability. 
 
Project Success and Deliverable: 
 
A hydrogeological study to better understand the characteristics of the aquifers that feed the spring 
systems, spatially and temporally. Marshall Hayworth of Wright Water Engineers has completed the 
preliminary scoping of the project. At this time it is anticipated that a contract will be signed after 
approval of the Water Supply Reserve Fund grant approval in summer of 2023. 
 
Deliverable 1: A preliminary hydrogeological report with the findings from the monitoring data. 
Recommendations including additional considerations to evaluate.  
 
Deliverable 2: A spring monitoring strategy to determine the meteorological variability and quantify 
the firm yield of the spring complexes and uncaptured spring flow.  
 
Deliverable 3: Monitoring data and evaluation of groundwater levels in comparison to meteorological 
data and firm yield spring collection. 
 
 
Task 1 Description:  

DocuSign Envelope ID: E8F9D295-6D68-4178-942C-561B97C6696A

124



 
Exhibit A.1 Scope of Work 

   
 

Engineering and Data Review (August 2023 - October 2024) 

Review historical data from the Colorado Division of Water Resources - Division 4, municipal and 
other official records, previously completed engineering reports, and published reports from the U.S. 
Geological Survey and Colorado Geological Survey. Begin hydrological monitoring and spring 
monitoring program. 

1. Review and evaluate publications and available data 

2. Field work for geological assessment and delineation 

3. Hydrological modeling 

4. Develop spring monitoring program 

5. Process monitoring data 

6. Evaluate and refine task 2 objectives 

7. Report, conclusions and recommendations 

8. Preliminary engineering design of spring improvements 

Task 2 Description:  

Subsurface Investigation (September 2023 - November 2025) 

Investigation of the spring complexes to define aquifer thickness, groundwater yielding character, 
bedrock topography, and the best course for groundwater monitoring.  

1. Resistivity Geophysical Survey 

2. Installation of shallow monitoring wells and pressure transducers 

3. Analyze Geophysical Survey and Monitoring Data 

4. Report, Conclusions and Recommendations 

Task 3 Description:  

Metering (September 2023 - October 2024) 

Meter two spring complexes serving the Paonia municipal water system 

1. Determine 2 best locations for data collection for overflow and captured spring water. 

2. Install flow meters in pipelines at those locations. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E8F9D295-6D68-4178-942C-561B97C6696A

125



Project Budget
Task 
No.* Task Name Units** # of Units Cost Per Unit CRD Funds

1 Engineering and Data Review hours 400.00  ~158.05  $                 13,000.00 
2 Subsurface Investigation hours 584.00 ~157 12,000.00$                  
3 Metering meters 2.00 22,500.00$       -$                            

$25,000
*Please document expenses at the task level (i.e. totalling all subtasks)
**I.e. hours (HRS), cubic yards (CY), square feet (SQFT), lump sum (LS) etc.

River District has the discretion to reallocate CRD funds between identified tasks not to exceed total funding award.
Please note: administrative costs must be 10% or less of the total grant. 

CRD Funding Award

Exhibit A.2 Budget
Date: May 31, 2023
Project Name: Hydrogeological Study of Paonia Springs
Awardee: Town of Paonia
CRD Funding Award: $25,000

v. December 2021

DocuSign Envelope ID: E8F9D295-6D68-4178-942C-561B97C6696A

126



 

 

Mayor and Trustee Reports 

127



 
Mayor’s Report  

July 11, 2023 
 
CML Conference June 25-28 

 General Session – Attitude Changes Everything 
o Using the way you view your world to mediate your experiences and the way 

you interact with others 

 Healing Our Politics: Mental Health in the Public Space 
o 83% of elected officials have experienced anxiety/depression while in office 
o 50% have felt overwhelmed 
o The number of those dropping out of office before the end of their term is 

increasing 
o Tips to deal with the stress of being in office and those we interact with 

 The Benefits of a Positive Culture in Your Police Department 
o Presentations by the Canon City and Lone Tree Police Departments about the 

new systems they have implemented since the pandemic 
o TEACH system 

 TRUTHFUL – Be honest and forthright in all things 
 ENCOURAGING – Be positive and supportive and recognize the value in 

each other 
 ACCOUNTABLE – Accept responsibility for your actions and meet or 

exceed work standards 
 COLLABORATIVE – Communicate effectively between work groups, shifts 

and departments 
 HUMILITY – Be willing to admit mistakes, listen to others, solicit input, be 

willing to make changes when needed and minimize status differences 
o City Manager and Council Support 
o Community participation and leadership 

 Be the change you want to see in your community 
 Rebranding the police as helpers and part of the community 

o Ethics, Service and Diligence 
 Ethics 

 Respect and dignity 

 Let them be heard 

 Do no harm 
 Service 

 Be guardians first, then warriors 
 Due Diligence 

 Comprehensive response and follow through 

 Act like what you do really does matter because it does 

 Mayors Mingle 

128



o Met with mayors from across the state to discuss and brainstorm similar issues 
facing all of us in our communities 

 Turning Uncertainty to Your Competitive Advantage 
o How to deal with a constantly changing environment by setting your focus and 

adapting, recognizing and incorporating advantageous changes as they occur. 
Flexibility. 

 Innovative Solutions for Affordable Housing 
o Habitat for Humanity presented new ideas for workforce housing using modular 

duplexes attached to larger developments. Also tiny homes complexes for 
veterans amid other developments. All homes are on donated, deed restricted 
land that will remain affordable. The crux of the program is to allow people to be 
able to buy a home at low cost with no down payment. The other primary goal is 
to be able to walk through a neighborhood and not be able to distinguish the 
deed restricted properties from the other properties around them. There is a 
Habitat for Humanity presence in Delta County. 

 Meeting of the Minds Luncheon 
o Panel of seasoned and emerging mayors and Senator Hickenlooper discussing 

the realities of mayoral leadership. 

 Building Intentional Relationships in Smaller Communities 
o Focused on Kersey, a town in eastern CO whose economy is based on oil  and gas 

production and how they interact with the energy industry, surrounding town 
and the state agencies to leverage grant funds. 

 Building Relationships 
o City of Grand Junction Town Administrator and Mayor discussed how they 

developed a working relationship after starting out as antagonists. 

 Elected Officials Breakfast – The Mayor and the Manager Go to the Movies: Lessons 
from the Cinema 

o Movie clips to highlight some of the issues faced in local government and choice 
points and how we deal with them 

 Funding Water/Wastewater Infrastructure Projects 
o Especially geared toward small communities – examples provided 
o Various lines of funding were discussed including SRF, DOLA, CWCB, USDA, USBR 
o USBR can provide $$ for meters 
o Stacking grants and loans to pay for almost all of the project 
o WaterSMART Federal grants to pay for raw water leakage 

 However, more red tape 
 $100,000 max 

 Housing: An Economic Competitiveness Threat 
o Housing = jobs 
o Prop 123 

 Affordable Housing Support Fund 
o OEDIT/CHFA 

 Affordable Housing Financing in 2023 has $180 million  

129



 Land banking fund (sboice@chfa.com) 

 $24 million in 2023, $46 million in 2024 

 Acquisition of land for affordable housing 

 Grants to governments up to $5 million for rental units or homes 

 Rentals must be 60% AMI or below 

 Homes must be 100% AMI or below with deed restriction 

 No match on grants 

 10 years to build – 5 year point to have a plan in place 

 Priorities: high density (definition depends on locality), mixed 
income, environmental sustainability 

 Must opt into Prop 123  

130



Town Board Update | 1 

 

PAONIA HOUSING NEEDS ASSESSMENT AND 
HOUSING ACTION PLAN 

Town Board Update 
 

Update #3 

July 7, 2023 

Project Overview 

Your consulting team, Urban Rural Continuum (URC) and Ayres Associates, is 
tasked with using data to identify the housing needs and issues in the 
community (Needs Assessment) and developing a plan to help meet that need 
and address the issues (Action Plan).  

What has been completed: 

• Kick-off call with the Town’s project leads.  
• Formation of the Housing Task Force.  
• Housing Task Force Meeting 1 (5/24) – discussed the project, the role of the 

Task Force, schedule, terminology, employer questionnaire and interviews, 
and who was not yet represented by the Task Force. 

• Consultant review of past plans and studies.   
• Housing Task Force Meeting 2 (6/21) – welcomed a few new members to 

the Task Force; reviewed and discussed the Housing Resources document 
(see next item in this list); discussed the Open House including format, 
content, and plan to publicize; reviewed and discussed initial data and 
issues; reviewed and discussed initial list of actions; and brainstormed 
Targeted Outreach efforts.  

• Existing Public Housing Resources document, see attached. This is on the 
Town’s website and should be shared widely to be sure existing resources 
are utilized. It also includes ways for community members to help.   

• The Employer Questionnaire for employers and those who are self-
employed is closed.  We received input from local employers representing 
hundreds of jobs. 

• Interviews have been completed with realtors, property managers, and 
builders.  

131

https://townofpaonia.colorado.gov/government/town-plans-maps/housing-needs-assessment-and-action-plan


Town Board Update | 2 

What is in progress:  

• Preparation for the community-wide Open House to be held on Thursday, July 13, opening at 5:30 
with doors closing at 8:30pm at the Ellen Hanson-Smith Center (Teen Center) in Paonia Town Park. 
Please plan to stop in, see the flier below. The goal of this Open House is to determine the 
community’s most pressing housing issues and the most favored actions. The input gathered will 
help inform an Action Plan that is supported by the community.  

• The Needs Assessment is being drafted including data analysis of demographics and economics, 
housing inventory, and the for sale and rental market. It also includes analyzing and summarizing 
input received from local employers responding to the Employer Questionnaire and information 
gathered during interviews. Tentatively plan on receiving the Draft Needs Assessment around 
August 15th for review at the August 22nd regular Board meeting.   

• Targeted outreach has started and will continue for a couple of weeks. We will seek to get input 
from residents we may have not yet heard from and/or are vulnerable, like seniors and single 
parents.  

• A preliminary outline of the Housing Action Plan has been developed and sections will begin to be 
drafted with input from the Open House and targeted outreach.   

• Housing Task Force meeting 3 planned for August 1.  
• Continued coordination with Master Plan team.  

 

 

 

132



Existing Public Housing Resources | 1 

 

EXISTING PUBLIC HOUSING RESOURCES – JUNE 2023 
Program  Population Served Contact  

Home Ownership 

Permanently Affordable 
Homeownership, Delta 

Low-income individuals and 
households, 4 homes currently 
being rehabilitated  

Habitat for Humanity, Delta County 
hfhofdelta@gmail.com  
AND 
Elevation Community Land Trust 
720.822.0052 
info@elevationclt.org  

Want to help? Volunteer for Habitat for Humanity of Delta County 
970.985.8489 or makisheila@yahoo.com 

Home Buyer Education Classes –  
in-person (Grand Junction) or virtual 
classes held monthly   

Prospective homebuyers  Housing Resource Center of Western CO  
970.241.2871  
Debh@hrwco.org  

Home Loans, downpayment 
assistance and more, various types  

First time homebuyers, VA, 
conventional, low-income 

Community Resources & Housing 
Development Corporation  
720.595.3704 

Single Family Housing Direct Home 
Loans – payment assistance to help 
reduce mortgage payments 
temporarily  

Low- and very-low-income  USDA Rural Development, Colorado 
Delta Office 
970.399.8198 
victoria.martinez@usda.gov 
nicki.barks@usda.gov  

Rental Housing 

Housing Choice Vouchers (previously 
called Section 8)  

Low-income people including 
elderly, disabled, families, and 
singles 

Delta Housing Authority 
970.874.7266 
voucher@deltahousingauthority.org  

Want to help? Become a Housing Choice Voucher landlord 
Delta Housing Authority, 970.874.7266 extension 3 or 5 

Project Based Voucher (PBV) for 
Creek Vista Apartments,  
Vista Drive, Paonia  

Low-income people 62 years or 
older 

Delta Housing Authority 
970.874.7266 
pha@deltahousingauthority.org  

Project Based Voucher (PBV) for 
Residences at Delta  
Villa Street, Delta  

Low-income people 62 years or 
older 

Delta Housing Authority 
970.874.7266 
pha@deltahousingauthority.org  

1-bedroom apartments and 2-3-4 
bedroom single family homes 
Various locations, Delta  

Low-income including elderly, 
disabled, families, and singles 

Delta Housing Authority 
970.874.7266 
pha@deltahousingauthority.org  

Alta Vista de la Montana Agricultural 
Worker Housing 
7108 Hwy 50, Delta  

Agricultural workers  Community Resources & Housing 
Development Corporation  
970.874.6166 

133

https://www.hfhofdelta.com/
mailto:hfhofdelta@gmail.com
https://www.elevationclt.org/
mailto:info@elevationclt.org
mailto:Volunteer%20for%20Habitat%20for%20Humanity
mailto:makisheila@yahoo.com
https://www.hrwco.org/what_we_do/homebuyer-education/
https://www.hrwco.org/what_we_do/weatherization/
mailto:Debh@hrwco.org
https://crhdc.org/Services/Lending
https://crhdc.org/Services/Lending
https://crhdc.org/
https://crhdc.org/
https://www.rd.usda.gov/programs-services/single-family-housing-programs/single-family-housing-direct-home-loans/co
https://www.rd.usda.gov/programs-services/single-family-housing-programs/single-family-housing-direct-home-loans/co
https://www.rd.usda.gov/co
mailto:victoria.martinez@usda.gov
mailto:nicki.barks@usda.gov
https://deltahousingauthority.org/section-8/
https://deltahousingauthority.org/
mailto:voucher@deltahousingauthority.org
https://deltahousingauthority.org/
mailto:pha@deltahousingauthority.org
https://deltahousingauthority.org/
mailto:pha@deltahousingauthority.org
https://deltahousingauthority.org/
mailto:pha@deltahousingauthority.org
https://crhdc.org/Services/Rentals/articleType/CategoryView/categoryId/8/Agricultural-Worker-Housing
https://crhdc.org/Services/Rentals/articleType/CategoryView/categoryId/8/Agricultural-Worker-Housing
https://crhdc.org/
https://crhdc.org/


Existing Public Housing Resources | 2 

Program  Population Served Contact  

Home Repairs and Modifications  

Handy Helper – minor home 
maintenance and repairs  

People over 60 years of age Habitat for Humanity, Delta County 
AND 
Region 10 
For services: 844.862.4968 

Want to help? Volunteer as a Handy Helper 
970.318.0995 or dobermeyer@region10.net 

Rehabilitation Loan Program – 
technical and financial assistance for 
general repairs and improvements   

Low to moderate-income 
homeowners  

Habitat of the San Juans  
970.650.2502 
steve@buildinglives.org  

Want to help? Volunteer for Habitat for Humanity of the San Juans 
970.650.2509 or whitney@buildinglives.org 

Weatherization Assistance Program – 
free energy efficiency and health and 
safety services  

Income qualifying residents, 
including homeowners and 
renters 

Housing Resource Center of Western CO, in 
partnership with Colorado Energy Office 
and DMEA 
970.241.2871 

Single Family Housing Repair Loans 
and Grants – loans for homeowners 
to repair, improve or modernize their 
homes; grants to elderly 
homeowners to remove health and 
safety hazards  

Loans: Low- and very-low-
income homeowners  
Grants: 62+ and unable to 
repay a repair loan  

USDA Rural Development  
Delta Office 
970.399.8198 
nicki.barks@usda.gov 

Counseling and Education  

Counseling and Education –  
pre-purchase, post-purchase, reverse 
mortgage (has a fee), financial 
capability, default 

Everyone Housing Resource Center of Western CO 
Intake: 970.773.9188 

Counseling and Education  Prospective homebuyers, those 
in foreclosure, those wanting to 
improve their financial 
capability  

Community Resources & Housing 
Development Corporation  
303.428.1448 
 

Walk-In Resource Center, Free 
Every Wednesday 11am-1pm 

Everyone  Westminster Hall 
135 4th Street, Delta, CO 81416 
970.874.7911 

Emergency and Transitional Housing  

The Abraham Connection Homeless 
Shelter – emergency nightly shelter 

Emergency shelter for men, 
women, and families.  
October 23 – mid-April, 
annually 

The Abraham Connection 
970.773.8290 
abrahamconnectiondelta@gmail.com  
480 Silver Street 
Delta, CO 81416 

Haven House – transitional housing Primarily serves families with 
children without safe housing 

Haven House 
970.323.5280 
nfo@havenhousehomeless.org  
4806 North River Road 
Olathe, CO 81425 
 

134

https://www.hfhofdelta.com/
https://region10.net/
mailto:dobermeyer@region10.net
https://www.buildinglives.org/apply/rehabilitation-loan-program/
https://www.buildinglives.org/
mailto:steve@buildinglives.org
mailto:whitney@buildinglives.org
https://www.hrwco.org/what_we_do/weatherization/
https://www.hrwco.org/
https://dmea.com/free-home-weatherization
https://www.rd.usda.gov/programs-services/single-family-housing-programs/single-family-housing-repair-loans-grants/co#overview
https://www.rd.usda.gov/programs-services/single-family-housing-programs/single-family-housing-repair-loans-grants/co#overview
https://www.rd.usda.gov/
mailto:nicki.barks@usda.gov
https://www.hrwco.org/what_we_do/housing-counseling-and-education-program/
https://www.hrwco.org/
https://www.hrwco.org/
https://crhdc.org/Services/Counseling-Education
https://crhdc.org/
https://crhdc.org/
https://deltaabrahamconnection.org/
mailto:abrahamconnectiondelta@gmail.com
https://havenhousehomeless.org/
mailto:nfo@havenhousehomeless.org


Existing Public Housing Resources | 3 

Program Population Served Contact 

Additional Resources 

Fertile Edge Community Land Trust: Currently being established. mmommaerts@gmail.com, 970.312.7489. 

Colorado Housing Connects: Provides Coloradans with general housing and fair housing resources.   

Colorado Low-Income Energy Assistance Program (LEAP): Provides assistance in paying for winter home heating costs 
for low-income households. 

Colorado Housing and Finance Authority (CHFA): Offer financial resources to strengthen homeownership and 
affordable rental housing. 

Colorado Department of Local Affairs, Division of Housing: Partners with local communities to create housing 
opportunities from homelessness prevention to homeownership.  

USDA Rural Development: Invests in rural America with loans, grant, and loan guarantee programs. 

AARP Foundation: Hosts a rent and mortgage assistance resource center online.   

135

mailto:mmommaerts@gmail.com
https://coloradohousingconnects.org/
https://cdhs.colorado.gov/leap
https://www.chfainfo.com/
https://cdola.colorado.gov/housing
http://www.rd.usda.gov/
https://heretostay.aarpfoundation.org/mortgage-rent-support/

	Top
	Correspondence Received
	Correspondence Recieved
	Correspondence Pride Flags
	Correspondence Pride
	Staff Flag Memo

	1.	Consent Agenda
	Minutes Title Page
	0627_RegMin
	Packet Title Page
	20230711Disbursements
	Paonia Liquors Title
	Staff Memo Paonia Liquor
	Paonia Liquors Renewal 07052023
	PatP SEP Title Page
	Staff Memo PatP
	NFVCC SEP PatP
	Pickin'
	Certificate of Insurance

	Interim Town Administrator
	Packet Title Page
	ITA Final report 7 11 2023

	Police Chief
	Packet Title Page
	JUNE-23 PROGRESS REPORT
	BLOTTER

	Public Works Director
	Packet Title Page
	07-07-2023 staff report

	Other Items
	Swearing in of Town Administrator Stefen Wynn
	Designation of handicapped parking at Town Park
	Packet Title Page
	Staff Memo- Heiniger
	2023-5 Public Safety Parks Committee

	Discussion and decisions on parking at the top of Pan American and Vista Drive
	Consider a mid-block Pedestrian crosswalk on Grand Avenue
	Packet Title Page
	Correspondence_ Crosswalk

	Ratifying Health Insurance Employer Contributions
	Packet Title Page
	2023-2024 Employee Benefit Assessment DRAFT 7 6 2023

	Consideration and approval of Resolution 2023 - 10 Roles and Responsibilites of committee's
	Packet Title Page
	10-2023 Res comm
	Draft Financial Committee duties 3 2023
	draft revised personnel committee duties. April 25 2023
	Parks Committee Duties
	Public Safety Committee Duties

	Consideration and Approval of Res 2023-08 Appointment of Officer- Town Administrator and Treasurer
	Packet Title Page
	R 2023-08 Appt Offr (ncb rev)

	Consideration and Approval of Res 2023-09 Authorized Signatories on Accounts
	Packet Title Page
	R 2023-09 Auth Sign (ncb rev)

	Consideration and approval of R 2023-11 Remote meetings and Participation
	Packet Title Page
	R 11-2023 Remote Meeting

	Opportunity to attend Colorado Growing Water Smart Workshop in October
	Packet Title Page
	Water Smart workshop
	CO GWS CRD RFP FY24

	Approval of award of bid to K&D Construction (low bidder) for replacement of Dorris Avenue sewer line and authorize Town Administrator to negotiate final contract.
	Packet Title Page
	333.05 - Engineering Letter Recommending NOA

	Consideration and Approval of granting Amanda Mojarro view only access to Town bank accounts and sales tax information
	Packet Title Page
	Amanda

	Consideration and approval to write an EIAF grant to DOLA for $1,000,000 to help fund the relining of the 2 million gallon tank
	Packet Title Page
	DOLA EIAF TIER II

	Consideration and Approval to write a grant of up to $6500 to the Colorado State Internet Portal Authority for expert help on the audio visual system in Town Hall
	Packet Title Page
	SIPA grant

	Consideration and Approval of River District Grant Agreement
	Packet Title Page
	River District grant
	River District Grant Agreement, unsigned

	Executive Sessions
	Reports
	Packet Title Page
	7-11-23
	2023.07.07 TB Housing Project Update 3

	Bottom



